
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, June 7, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 

Page 1 of 1 

1. Call to Order
2. Roll Call
3. Invocation and Pledge
4. Announcements
5. Approval of the Agenda
6. Public Input
7. Consent Agenda

a. Approve Minutes
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held May 21, 2021
• Executive Session held May 21, 2021

b. Approve Dawson County Chamber of Commerce FY 2022 Agreement with the City
c. Approve Resolution and Adoption Agreements for Additional Retirement Plan
d. Approve Georgia Mountain Regional Commission Reappointment of Betsy McGriff

PUBLIC HEARING  
8. ANX C2100192 and ZA C2100192: Charles Alan Barge has petitioned to annex into the city limits of

Dawsonville the 44.82 acres combined tracts known as TMP 070 050, located at 612 Duck Thurmond
Rd, 2.98 acres; TMP 070 004, located at 690 Duck Thurmond Rd, 2.95 acres; TMP 069 037 located
at 694 Duck Thurmond Rd, 14.46 acres; TMP 069 089, located at 788 Duck Thurmond Rd; 2.96
acres; TMP 069 036, located 840 Duck Thurmond Rd, 14.38 acres; TMP 069 073, located at 914
Duck Thurmond Rd, 7.09 acres; with a request to rezone from County Zoning of RSRMM (Residential
Sub-Rural Manufactured/Moved) to City Zoning of R1 (Single Family Residential).  Public Hearing
Dates:  Planning Commission on May 10, 2021 and City Council on June 7, 2021.  City Council for a
decision on June 21, 2021.

9. Proposed FY 2021-2022 Budget
BUSINESS 

10. Fifty-Fourth Annual Mountain Moonshine Festival
11. Plan Review Engineering Services Contract
12. Speed Hump Homeowner’s Association (HOA) Policy
13. Budget Amendment Request for Concrete Pads for Exercise Stations
14. Intergovernmental Agreement for Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax
15. Intergovernmental Agreement for Downtown Parking
16. Intergovernmental Agreement for Law Enforcement
17. Recognize Former Councilmember Stephen Tolson
18. Recognize Retiring City Attorney Dana Miles

  ADJOURNMENT 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, June 21, 2021 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should 
contact the Clerk at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



      

  SUBJECT:       CONSENT AGENDA         

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 06/7/2021 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  

a. Approve Minutes
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held May 21, 2021
• Executive Session held May 21, 2021

b. Approve Dawson County Chamber of Commerce FY 2022 Agreement with the City
c. Approve Resolution and Adoption Agreements for Additional Retirement Plan
d. Approve Georgia Mountain Regional Commission Reappointment of Betsy McGriff

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR 

AGENDA ITEM #    7 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/7/2021     
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD MAY 21, 2021 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD MAY 21, 2021 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 17, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, 
Councilmember Mark French, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly 
Banister, Planning Director David Picklesimer, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Finance 
Administrator Robin Gazaway and Utilities Operation Manager Jacob Barr.   

 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and Pledge were led by Councilmember Walden. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason announced the Grand Opening of Main Street Park was a 
success and that was also the first Food Truck night; he thanked everyone for coming out.  He also 
announced the elevator in City Hall is broken. 
 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda made by J. Walden; second by C. 
Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 
 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a) made by C. 
Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried two in favor (Phillips, Walden) with one abstained 
(French).    

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Executive Session held May 3, 2021 

 

8. APPOINT AND SWEAR IN COUNCILMEMBER, POST 2:  Motion to appoint William Illg for 
Councilmember Post 2 to fulfill the unexpired term of Stephen Tolson made by J. Walden; second by 
C. Phillips.  Councilmember French stated he personally spoke with William Illg and appreciates his 
willingness to serve and believes he will make a fine addition to the Council.  Councilmember French 
also stated his concerns regarding the lack of a process in the Charter in which to appoint an official 
when there is a vacancy.  Additionally, he felt the name of the proposed official should have been 
included in the agenda packet for public disclosure.  Councilmember Phillips asked City Attorney 
Tallant if the Council is following the Charter for this appointment; Attorney Tallant affirmed the Charter 
is being followed.  Further discussion occurred regarding adding a process of appointing officials to 
the Charter.  Councilmember French clarified he in no way implied the Council was not following the 
Charter for this appointment.  Vote carried two in favor (Walden, Phillips) with one opposed (French). 
 

Mayor Eason swore in William Illg to serve as the Councilmember for Post 2.  Councilmember William 
Illg then joined the Council on the dais.  

 

9. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  Mayor and Council presented the April 2021 Employee of the Month 
award to Stephen McNeal.  Service awards were given to Westin Lee for 4 years of service and 
Beverly Banister for 6 years of service.  Mayor Eason read a proclamation for National Public Works 
Week and presented it to the Public Works Department.  
 

BUSINESS 
 

Mayor Eason explained the purpose of items #10 - #23 on the agenda is to amend the zoning to all 
the City’s properties to INST (Institutional District) and will ask for one motion after the reading of the 
requests.  Planning Director Picklesimer read all zoning amendment requests.   

 

10. ZA-C2100140: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 092B 007 Land Lot 
375 4th District, Located at 565 Highway 9 North, consisting of 0.147 acres, from LI (Light Industrial 
District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 
and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  

 

11. ZA-C2100141: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP D01 049 Land Lot 
439 4th District, Located at 26 Maple Street South, consisting of 2.00 acres, from CBD (Central 
Business District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on April 
12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 17, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

12. ZA-C2100142: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP D01 033 Land Lot 
440 4th District, Located at 0 Church Street, from TB (Town Business District) to INST (Institutional 
District). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 
2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  
 

13. ZA-C2100143: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP D01 021 Land Lot 
439 and 446 4th District, Located at 170 Academy Ave, consisting of 2.30 acres, from CBD (Central 
Business District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on April 
12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  
 

14. ZA-C2100144: Dawsonville Downtown Development Authority has requested a zoning amendment 
for TMP D01 022 Land Lot 446 4th District, Located at 41 Mills Ford Road, consisting of 2.99 acres, 
from CBD (Central Business District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning 
Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 
17, 2021.  
 

15. ZA-C2100146: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 083 043 Land Lot 
514 4th District, Located at 695 Maple Street South, consisting of 1.00 acres, from R2 (Single-family 
Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on 
April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021. 
 

16. ZA-C2100147: Dawsonville Downtown Development Authority has requested a zoning amendment 
for TMP 082 006 007 Land Lot 300, 301 and 312 4th District, Located at 1307 Shoal Creek Road, 
consisting of 1.40 acres, from R1 (Restricted Single-family Residential District) to INST (Institutional 
District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 
2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  

 

17. ZA-C2100148: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 093 009 Land Lot 
58 4th District and Land Lot 428 13th District, Located at 244 Memory Lane, consisting of 3.20 acres, 
from R3 (Single-family Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: 
Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision 
on May 17, 2021.  

 

18. ZA-C2100149: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 093 055 079 Land 
Lot 576 4th District, Located at 140 Crocket Drive, consisting of 0.334 acres, from R3 (Single-family 
Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on 
April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  

 

19. ZA-C2100150: Dawsonville Downtown Development Authority has requested a zoning amendment 
for TMP 092B 014 Land Lot 376 and 377 4th District, Located at 253 Gober Sosebee Street South, 
consisting of 0.728 acres, from LI (Light Industrial) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing 
Dates: Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a 
decision on May 17, 2021.  

 

20. ZA-C2100151: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 091 058 Land Lot 
104 4th District, consisting of 5.0 acres, from R1 (Restricted Single-family Residential District) to INST 
(Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council 
on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021  

 

21. ZA-C2100152: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 082 013 Land Lot 
370 4th District, Located at 326 Bent Ridge Drive, consisting of 0.52 acres, from R3 (Single-family 
Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on 
April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021.  

 

22. ZA-C2100153: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 082 004 001 Land 
Lot 310 4th District, Located at 327 Burt Creek Road, consisting of 0.11 acres, from R1 (Restricted 
Single family Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 17, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

Commission on April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 
17, 2021.  

 

23. ZA-C2100154: City of Dawsonville has requested a zoning amendment for TMP 093 041 001 Land 
Lot 511 4th District, Located 16 Farmington Circle, consisting of 0.057 acres, from R6 (Multiple-family 
Residential District) to INST (Institutional District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on 
April 12, 2021 and City Council on May 3, 2021.  City Council for a decision on May 17, 2021  

 

Motion to approve all zoning amendment requests items #10 - #23 made by M. French; second by J. 
Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

24. PLANNING COMMISSION APPOINTMENT, POST 3:  Motion to appoint Sandra Sawyer to the 
Planning Commission Post 3 made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.   
 

25. BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUESTS:   
a. CATERING KITCHEN:  Motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount of $13,100.00 

from General Fund Reserves for the installation of the external water/sewer lines into the 
Gordon Pirkle Room awarded to Townley Construction and to approve a budget amendment 
in the amount of $18,500.00 from General Fund Reserves for the installation of indoor plumbing 
to the Gordon Pirkle Room awarded to Innovative Plumbing made by M. French; second by J. 
Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 
 

b. SKATE PARK:  Motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount of $43,000.00 from 
General Fund Reserves, possibly to be paid back by SPLOST VII, for the installation of an all 
steel skatepark ramp system awarded to the Sole Source provider of an American made steel 
equipment provider, American Ramp Company and to approve a budget amendment from 
General Fund Reserves for up to $25,000.00 to construct a concrete pad to mount the 
equipment made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

c. ELECTRIC GOLF CART:  Motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount of $7,800.00 
from General Fund Reserves for the purchase of an electric golf cart from North Atlanta Golf 
Cart made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

d. CONCRETE SLABS FOR SHELTERS:  Motion to approve a budget amendment in the amount 
of $12,680.00 from General Fund Reserves for the construction of two concrete pads to place 
existing shelters on at Main Street Park awarded to Jerry Townley Concrete made by C. 
Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

26. HIGHWAY VETERAN’S FLAG PROGRAM:  City Manager Bolz explained the City was approached 
by the Etowah Masonic Lodge to assist with installing and removing the Veteran Flags on Highways 
53 and 9 and around the Historic Courthouse several times throughout the year; Attorney Tallant has 
developed an agreement between the City and the Lodge to be considered for approval. 
 

Motion to approve the agreement as presented made C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 

 

WORK SESSION 
 

27. HAUNTED GHOST TOUR – USE OF MEMORIAL GARDENS BY GEORGIA RACING HALL OF 
FAME:  Cindy Elliott presented a plan to offer a Haunted Ghost Tour to benefit the Georgia Racing 
Hall of Fame incorporating different areas of the City and requested use of Memorial Gardens. 

 

Motion to approve the use of Memorial Gardens by the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame to conduct a 
haunted ghost tour made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 17, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

28. GEORGIA RACING HALL OF FAME – MOONSHINE FESTIVAL OUTSIDE BAR IN WINNER’S 
CIRCLE:  Cindy Elliot discussed the use and plan of utilizing the Winner’s Circle outside of the 
museum for a bar during the 2021 Mountain Moonshine Festival; a permit has been submitted. 
 

Motion to approve the permit as requested made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  
 

29. FY 2021-2022 PROPOSED BUDGET PRESENTATION:  Finance Administrator Robin Gazaway 
presented the proposed FY 2021-2022 budget to the City Council.  A public hearing is scheduled for 
the June 7, 2021 City Council meeting and the adoption of the budget by resolution will be considered 
at the June 21, 2021 meeting.    

 

STAFF REPORTS 
 

30. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz reported on the two upcoming Food Truck Nights; 
June 11, 2021 and July 9, 2021, both will occur at Main Street Park.  He also stated there may be a 
movie in the park after the July 9th event which will be sponsored by a local church.  He reported the 
leak adjustment total through April 14, 2021 was $152.41. 
 

31. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR:  Financial reports representing fund balances and 
activity provided through April 30, 2021. 
   

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 At 5:52 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for pending litigation was 
made by W. Illg; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

 At 6:15 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.   

 

Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

 

ADDITIONAL BUSINESS: 
 

                  Mayor Eason discussed the civil action lawsuit filed against Dawson County regarding the    
improper SPLOST; he further stated the Council has been working with the County to resolve the 
issue through an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA).  Attorney Tallant provided a summary of the 
items in the IGA that will be considered.  They include the paving of some roads including the 
City’s portion, funding certain expenses related to the Sheriff’s office, a monetary contribution 
toward mutually beneficial projects, reaching an IGA on downtown parking and some priority 
funding after the Level 2 projects of the County are completed. He stated he will make the changes 
to the IGA as requested by the Council and if approved he will send it to the County for 
consideration. 

 

 Motion to approve the IGA with changes as discussed and recommended by legal counsel made 
by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “B”) 

 
ADJOURNMENT:   
 

At 6:19 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.   
 
 
 
 
 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 17, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
Approved this 7th day of June 2021. 

 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
         
              ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
                 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
  
 
    
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
              Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 





Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE FY 2022 

AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/7/2021       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT WITH THE DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE FOR 
THE FY2022 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• AGREEMENT UP FOR APPROVAL FOR FY 2021 – 2022 
• CURRENT AGREEMENT EXPIRES 06/30/2021 
• BUDGETED AMOUNT CURRENTLY AT $12,000 ANNUALLY ($1,000 PER MONTH) 
• AGREEMENT IN PLACE SINCE FY 2014-2015     

     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
     APPROVE, AMEND, DENY OR TABLE 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:   Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    7b      
 

 

 



 

City of Dawsonville and Chamber of Commerce Agreement  

THIS AGREEMENT, made by and between the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, a Municipal 
Corporation, hereinafter termed the "City", and the Dawson County Chamber of 
Commerce and Office of Tourism Development, a non-profit corporation, hereinafter 
termed the "Chamber". 

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, the City is desirous of promoting the existing commercial and industrial 
businesses and tourism attractions located in the City and the desirability of disseminating 
information to said existing commercial and industrial businesses and tourism attractions, 
and of properly following up and giving consideration to inquiries for assistance to existing 
businesses and tourism attractions made from time to time relative to various promotional 
opportunities in said City; and 

WHEREAS, the law of Georgia authorizes the expenditures of monies accruing to the 
General Fund of the City for such activities; and 

WHEREAS, the Chamber is organized for and equipped to carry on the promotion of 
existing commercial and industrial businesses and tourism attractions on behalf of said 
City and to publicize and assist these businesses and attractions to their best advantages, 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants and promises, 
hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows: 

1. The Chamber will undertake the following programs in implementation of the above 
promotional activities on behalf of the existing business and tourism community of the 
City as follows: 

a. To employ a competent staff to properly carry out this Agreement and other 
tasks and programs considered appropriate by the Chamber membership. 

b. To promptly give assistance relative to the existing business and attraction 
advantages and opportunities in the City, and to disseminate information by 
correspondence, media promotion and publicity, and personal contacts favorably 
advertising such advantages and opportunities of existing businesses and 
attractions. 

c. To plan, organize, find, coordinate, and implement educational programs, 
seminars, and activities for the purpose of assisting local businesses in maximizing 
productivity and profitability. 

d. To educate, promote, and inform the business community through the 
preparation of a Chamber Newsletter sent no less often than twice per month.  



 

e. To provide input to the City on matters pertaining to the status of businesses 
and tourism within the City. 

f. To help develop and promote programs designed to promote existing businesses 
and attractions within the City. 

g. To provide welcome/new resident packets designed to acquaint all new 
residents with the City's business community and City private and government 
services. 

h. To actively participate on City Committees. 

2. That in consideration of the services provided herein, the City shall pay monthly to the 
Chamber the sum of $1,000.00 for the term of this Agreement or any renewal thereof. 

3. As further consideration for the covenant aforesaid of the City to pay said funds to the 
Chamber, the Chamber hereby covenants that it will not use its name or funds, or permit 
or suffer its name or funds to be used, in connection with the election, nomination, 
support, publicity, endorsement, or appointment of any officer or employee of the City or 
of any other governmental agency. And, furthermore, the Chamber shall refrain from 
participation in the distribution of emails, written or oral communications, pamphlets or 
handbills of any kind favoring or opposing any candidate for election to any City office or 
to the office of any quasi-municipal agency of which the City area is a part. 

4. The Chamber shall furnish periodic reports of its activities to the City which shall consist 
of the business and tourism promotion activities, publicity, business educational 
seminars, events, etc. scheduled for the next quarter and a review of previous 
accomplishments. 

5. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements between the City and the 
Chamber of Commerce. This Agreement is terminable by either party upon thirty (30) 
days prior written notice.  Unless renewed by mutual execution, this agreement shall 
expire June 30, 2022. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed 
by their properly authorized officers on this 7th day of June 2021. 

 

 CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 

 ___________________________ 
 Mike Eason, Mayor 

       CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 
 

     _____________________________ 
     Mandy Power, President 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESOLUTION AND ADOPTION AGREEMENTS FOR ADDITIONAL 

RETIREMENT PLAN  
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   APPROVE RESOLUTION AND AGREEMENT FOR THE 457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
AND THE RESOLUTION AND AGREEMENT FOR THE 401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

• COUNCIL APPROVED ADDITIONAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS ON 04/19/2021 
• FUNDING INCLUDED IN FY 2022 BUDGET 

 

   
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
  
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

 



THE GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION 

457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

 

RESOLUTION AND 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

City of Dawsonville 

 

 

 

Administered by: 

Georgia Municipal Association 

201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

Telephone:  404-688-0472 

Facsimile:   404-577-6663 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 

RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Participating Employer") has determined that in the interest of attracting and retaining qualified 

employees, it wishes to offer a deferred compensation plan; 

WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has also determined that it wishes to encourage 

employees' saving for retirement by offering salary reduction contributions; 

WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has reviewed the Georgia Municipal Association 

("GMA") Deferred Compensation Plan ("Plan"); 

WHEREAS, the Participating Employer wishes to participate in the Plan to provide 

certain benefits to its employees, reduce overall administrative costs, and afford attractive 

investment opportunities; 

WHEREAS, the Participating Employer is an Employer as defined in the Plan; 

WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has executed an Adoption Agreement for the 

Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Dawsonville ("Governing Authority") 

is authorized by law to adopt this resolution approving the Adoption Agreement on behalf of the 

Participating Employer; 

Therefore, the Governing Authority of the Participating Employer hereby resolves: 

Section 1. The Participating Employer adopts the Plan and the Trust Agreement 

("Trust") for the Plan for its Employees.   

Section 2. The Participating Employer acknowledges that the Board of Trustees of 

the GMA Defined Contribution and Deferred Compensation Plan ("Trustees") are only 

responsible for the Plan and have no responsibility for other employee benefit plans maintained 

by the Participating Employer.   

Section 3. The Participating Employer hereby adopts the terms of the Adoption 

Agreement, which is attached hereto and made a part of this resolution.  The Adoption 

Agreement sets forth the Employees to be covered by the Plan, the benefits to be provided by the 

Participating Employer under the Plan, and any conditions imposed by the Participating 

Employer with respect to, but not inconsistent with, the Plan.  The Participating Employer 

reserves the right to amend its elections under the Adoption Agreement, so long as the 

amendment is not inconsistent with the Plan or the Internal Revenue Code or other applicable 

law and is approved by the Trustees of the Plan.   

Section 4.  

(a) The Participating Employer shall abide by the terms of the Plan and the Trust, 

including amendments to the Plan and the Trust made by the Trustees of the Plan, 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville 

 2 

all investment, administrative, and other service agreements of the Plan and the 

Trust, and all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other 

applicable law. 

(b) The Participating Employer accepts the administrative services to be provided by 

GMA and any services provided by a Service Manager as delegated by the 

Trustees.  The Participating Employer acknowledges that fees will be imposed 

with respect to the services provided and that such fees may be deducted from the 

Participants' accounts. 

Section 5.  

(a) The Participating Employer may terminate its participation in the Plan, if it takes 

the following actions: 

(i) A resolution must be adopted terminating its participation in the Plan. 

(ii) The resolution must specify when the participation will end. 

The Trustees shall determine whether the resolution complies with the Plan, and all 

applicable federal and state laws, shall determine an appropriate effective date, and shall provide 

appropriate forms to terminate ongoing participation.  However, distributions under the Plan of 

existing accounts to  Participants will be made in accordance with the Plan. 

(b) The Participating Employer acknowledges that the Plan contains provisions for 

involuntary Plan termination. 

Section 6. The Participating Employer acknowledges that all assets held in 

connection with the Plan, including all contributions to the Plan, all property and rights acquired 

or purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights 

shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries under the 

Plan.  No part of the assets and income of the Plan shall be used for, or diverted to, purposes 

other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries and for defraying 

reasonable expenses of the Plan.  All amounts of compensation deferred pursuant to the Plan, all 

property and rights acquired or purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such 

amounts, property or rights held as part of the Plan, shall be transferred to the Trustees to be 

held, managed, invested and distributed as part of the Trust Fund in accordance with the 

provisions of the Plan.  All contributions to the Plan must be transferred by the Participating 

Employer to the Trust Fund.  All benefits under the Plan shall be distributed solely from the 

Trust Fund pursuant to the Plan.   



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville 

 3 

Section 7. This resolution and the Adoption Agreement shall be submitted to the 

Trustees for their approval.  The Trustees shall determine whether the resolution complies with 

the Plan, and, if it does, shall provide appropriate forms to the Participating Employer to 

implement participation in the Plan.  The Trustees may refuse to approve an Adoption 

Agreement by an Employer that does not have state statutory authority to participate in the Plan.  

The Governing Authority hereby acknowledges that it is responsible to assure that this resolution 

and the Adoption Agreement are adopted and executed in accordance with the requirements of 

applicable law. 

Adopted by the Governing Authority on _____________ ___, _______, in accordance 

with applicable law. 

   
By:   

 Signature 

 

 

   

 Name and Title 

 

Attest:   

 

 

Date:   

 

 

[Governing Authority should assure that applicable law is followed in the adoption and 

execution of this resolution.] 

 

 



 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

GMA 457(b) DEFERRED 

COMPENSATION PLAN 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

ADMINISTRATOR 

 

Georgia Municipal Association 

201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

Telephone:  404-688-0472 

Facsimile:   404-577-6663 

PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER 

 

Name:  City of Dawsonville, Georgia  

 

GOVERNING AUTHORITY 

Name: Mayor and Council for the City of Dawsonville  

Address: 415 Hwy 53 E Ste. 100, Dawsonville, GA 30534 

Phone: 706-203-4917 

Facsimile: 706-265-4214 

E-mail:  

Person Authorized to receive Official Notices from the Plan or GMA: Finance 

Administrator  

TYPE OF ADOPTION 

This Adoption Agreement is for the following purpose (check one): 

 This is a new 457(b) deferred compensation plan adopted by the Participating 

Employer for its Employees.  This plan does not replace or restate an existing 

deferred compensation plan. 

 This is an amendment and restatement of another 457(b) deferred compensation 

plan of the Participating Employer. 

 This is an amendment of the GMA 457(b) Adoption Agreement previously 

adopted by the Participating Employer (please specify type below): 

 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 AA-2 

  This is an amendment to change one or more of the Adopting Employer's  

  contribution design elections in the Adoption Agreement. 

  This is an amendment to add a new Department or a new class of Eligible  

  Employees. 

  This is an amendment to discontinue participation in the Plan by one or  

  more Departments or classes of Employees. 

   Other (please specify): ________________________________________ 

   ___________________________________________________________ 

   ___________________________________________________________ 

DISCLOSURE OF OTHER 457(b) PLAN(S) 

The Participating Employer  does or  does not have an existing deferred 

compensation plan(s).  If the Participating Employer does have one or more deferred 

compensation plans, the Governing Authority must provide the plan name and the name of the 

provider below, and such other relevant information requested by the Administrator. 

Plan Name(s)_____________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Plan Provider(s)__________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

VERY IMPORTANT:  All eligible plans of a Participating Employer are considered 

to be a single plan for purposes of compliance with Code Section 457(b).  Thus, if a 

Participating Employer has more than one eligible plan (or additional investment options 

under a 457(b) arrangement with more than one vendor), the Participating Employer is 

responsible for ensuring that all of its arrangements, treated as a single plan, comply with 

the 457(b) requirements, including, but not limited to, the requirements listed below.  The 

Participating Employer must carefully review the Master Plan provisions listed below to 

fulfill its responsibility for monitoring coordination of multiple plans.   

• Compliance with the limit on Annual Deferrals to an eligible plan (including the 

basic limit (Section 6.1), the age 50 catch-up (Section 6.2), and the special 457 

catch-up limit (Section 6.3)) (carefully review Article VI of the Master Plan for 

these rules). 

• Compliance with the requirements for special 457 catch-up deferrals limits, 

including the requirement that a Participant have only one Normal Retirement 

Age (with respect to the special 457 catch-up limit) under all eligible plans 

offered by an Employer (carefully review Sections 1.24 and 6.3 of the Master 

Plan for these rules). (In essence, this means that once a Participant has selected a 

Normal Retirement Age under any eligible plan offered by an employer, he or 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 AA-3 

she may not select a different one, and the selection will remain that Participant’s 

Normal Retirement Age under all eligible plans offered by the Employer). 

• Compliance with the requirement to distribute excess deferrals (an excess 

deferral means the amount of deferrals for a calendar year that is more than the 

basic limit, the age 50 catch-up limit, and the special 457 catch-up limit) 

(carefully review Section 6.7 of the Master Plan for these rules).  (This means that 

the Participating Employer will have to tell the ADMINISTRATOR if excess 

deferrals need to be distributed from this Plan.) 

• If the Participating Employer has directed a plan-to-plan transfer, then the 

Participating Employer is responsible for compliance with the plan-to-plan 

transfer provisions (carefully review Article XVIII of the Master Plan for these 

rules). 

PLAN YEAR 

Plan Year means the Employer's fiscal year, which begins on the following date: July 1 

(insert month and day, e.g., July 1).   

 

ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES 

Only Employees (including independent contractors specifically designated by the 

Employer below) as defined in the Plan may be covered by the Adoption Agreement.  Subject to 

other conditions in the Plan, this Adoption Agreement, and Addendum (if applicable), the 

following Employees are eligible to participate in the Plan: 

 All Employees (includes elected or appointed members of the Governing 

Authority) 

 All Employees with the exception of the following (must specify): Elected or 

appointed members of the Governing Authority. 

The following Independent Contractors may participate in the Plan (must specify):   

           

           

            

Employers must assure that proper procedures are in place for independent contractors to 

participate in and make deferrals under the Plan. 

The Employer shall provide the Trustees with the name, address, Social Security 

Number, and date of birth for each Eligible Employee. 

PAYROLL PERIOD 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 AA-4 

The payroll period of the Participating Employer is: 

 Weekly   Semi-Monthly 

 Bi-Weekly   Monthly 

 Other (must specify):        

Deferrals for an Eligible Employee with respect to a payroll period in a calendar month 

shall only be made if the Eligible Employee has entered into a Participation Agreement before 

the beginning of such month. 

COMPENSATION 

 Compensation Paid After Severance From Employment – Certain post-severance 

payments may be included in Compensation for purposes of computing deferrals under the Plan, 

but only if these amounts are paid no later than 2½ months after severance from employment or, 

if later, the end of the calendar year that includes a Participant's severance from employment, and 

only if it is a payment that, absent a severance from employment, would have been paid to the 

Participant while the Participant continued in employment with the Participating Employer.  The 

Participating Employer makes the following election with respect to including post-severance 

payments in Compensation (Note: if the following is not completed, no post-severance payments 

will be included in Compensation by default):  

 No post-severance payments will be included in Compensation for purposes of 

computing deferrals under the Plan (if this box is checked, skip to "Modification 

of the Terms of the Adoption Agreement " below). 

 For purposes of calculating deferrals under the Plan, the following post-severance 

payments will be included in Compensation, as long as: 1) they are paid no later 

than 2 ½ months after severance from employment or, if later, the end of the 

calendar year that includes the Participant's severance from employment; and 2) 

absent a severance from employment, they would have been paid to the 

Participant while the Participant continued in employment with the Participating 

Employer  (check all that apply): 

 regular compensation paid after severance from employment for services 

rendered prior to severance during the Participant's regular working hours 

 compensation paid after severance from employment for services rendered 

prior to severance outside the Participant's regular work hours (such as 

overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar 

payments 

 post-severance payments for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation or  

other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to use the 

leave if employment had continued 

 Other:            



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 AA-5 

            

            

MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

If a Participating Employer desires to amend any of its elections contained in this 

Adoption Agreement, the Governing Authority by official action must adopt a new Adoption 

Agreement and forward it to the Trustees for approval.  The new Adoption Agreement is not 

effective until approved by the Trustees and other procedures required by the Plan have been 

implemented. 

TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

This Adoption Agreement may be terminated only in accordance with the Plan. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 The 457(b) Plan will be effective as follows (choose one):  

 

 Original Adoption. The 457(b) Plan will be effective July 1, 2021 with respect 

to contributions as approved by the Board of Trustees, below. 

 Amendment and Restatement.  The amended and restated 457(b) Plan will be 

effective _______________, ________, with respect to contributions as approved 

by the Board of Trustees, below.  The 457(b) Plan was originally effective 

______________, ________. 

 

EXECUTION BY EMPLOYER 

The foregoing Adoption Agreement is hereby adopted and approved on the ______ day 

of ________________, ______, by the _________________________________________. 

Signed:  

 

Printed Name:   

 

Title:    

 

Date of Signature:   

 



 

 

GMA 457(b) Plan        City of Dawsonville  

 AA-6 

TRUSTEES' APPROVAL 
 

The Adoption Agreement is approved by the Board of Trustees of the GMA Defined 

Contribution and Deferred Compensation Plan.  Contributions shall first be remitted under this 

Adoption Agreement as follows: 

 Within 15 business days after the Payroll Period ending __________, _________. 

 Other (must specify) _______________________________________________. 

 In the case of an amendment, contributions continue on existing schedule unless 

new employee classes are added, in which case contributions for such new 

employee classes shall first be remitted__________________________________. 

 

Dated:_______________________ By:         

 

Title:   

on behalf of the Board of Trustees 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ROTH 457(b) ADDENDUM TO  

THE GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION 

457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN ADOPTION 

AGREEMENT 

This is an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement completed by the City of Dawsonville, 

Georgia.  It modifies the Adoption Agreement by providing for Roth Contributions to the Plan.   

Effective July 1, 2021, Eligible Employees under the Employer’s GMA 457(b) Deferred 

Compensation Plan shall be permitted to make Roth Contributions under the Plan and to receive 

Rollovers of Roth Contributions under the Plan, in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan Master Plan Document.  

To make Roth Contributions under the Plan, an Eligible Employee must designate on the 

Participation Agreement that his or her Annual Deferrals under the Plan are to be treated as after-

tax Roth Contributions. If an Eligible Employee fails to designate whether Annual Deferrals are 

pre-tax Employee Contributions or after-tax Roth Contributions, the Eligible Employee will be 

deemed to have designated his or her Annual Deferrals as pre-tax Employee Contributions and 

not as Roth Contributions.   

The Employer is responsible for distributing any and all applicable notices to employees 

regarding establishment of a Roth Contribution Account and an Eligible Employee’s rights and 

responsibilities thereunder. The Employer is responsible for implementing Roth Contributions 

following an Eligible Employee’s election to make Roth Contributions under the Plan, including 

but not limited to withholding applicable after-tax Roth Contributions, remitting said Roth 

Contributions to the Service Manager and providing the Service Manager with information 

necessary to establish accounts for Eligible Employees making Roth Contributions or receiving 

Rollovers of Roth Contributions pursuant to this Addendum. 

 

EXECUTION BY EMPLOYER 

The foregoing Addendum is hereby adopted and approved on the ______ day of 

________________, ______, by the _________________________________________. 

               

Signed:  

 

Printed Name:   

 

Title:    

 

Date of Signature:   

 

 



 

2 

TRUSTEES' APPROVAL 
 

 The Addendum is approved by the Board of Trustees of the GMA Defined Contribution 

and Deferred Compensation Plan.   

 

Dated:_______________________ By:         

 

Title:   

 on behalf of the Board of Trustees 



GMA 401(a) DC Plan        City of Dawsonville 

THE GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 

401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

 

Amended and Restated 

As of January 1, 2018 

 

 

RESOLUTION AND 

 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

City of Dawsonville  

 

 

 

Administered by: 

Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

Telephone:  404-688-0472 

Facsimile:   678-686-6289 

 



- 1 - 
GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

RESOLUTION 

 WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Participating Employer") has determined that in the interest of attracting and retaining qualified 

employees, it wishes to offer a defined contribution plan, funded by employer contributions; 

 WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has also determined that it wishes to encourage 

employees' saving for retirement by offering  matching and/or  non-matching contributions; 

 WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has reviewed the Georgia Municipal 

Association, Inc. ("GMA") Defined Contribution Plan, as amended and restated effective as of 

January 1, 2017 ("Plan"); 

 WHEREAS, the Participating Employer wishes to  participate or  continue 

participating in the Plan to provide certain benefits to its employees, reduce overall 

administrative costs, and afford attractive investment opportunities; 

 WHEREAS, the Participating Employer is an Employer as defined in the Plan; 

 WHEREAS, the Participating Employer has executed an Adoption Agreement (and, if 

applicable, an Addendum) for the Plan; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Dawsonville ("Governing Authority") 

is authorized by law to adopt this resolution approving the Adoption Agreement (and, if 

applicable, Addendum) on behalf of the Participating Employer; 

 Therefore, the Governing Authority of the Participating Employer hereby resolves: 

Section 1.  The Participating Employer adopts the Plan and the Trust Agreement 

("Trust") for the Plan for its Employees. 

Section 2.  The Participating Employer acknowledges that the Board of Trustees of the 

GMA Defined Contribution and Deferred Compensation Plan ("Trustees") are only responsible 

for the Plan and have no responsibility for other employee benefit plans maintained by the 

Participating Employer. 

Section 3.   

(a) The Participating Employer hereby adopts the terms of the Adoption Agreement and 

any Addendum, which is attached hereto and made a part of this resolution.  The Adoption 

Agreement (and, if applicable, the Addendum) sets forth the Employees to be covered by the 

Plan, the benefits to be provided by the Participating Employer under the Plan, and any 

conditions imposed by the Participating Employer with respect to, but not inconsistent with, the 

Plan.  The Participating Employer reserves the right to amend its elections under the Adoption 

Agreement and any Addendum, so long as the amendment is not inconsistent with the Plan or the 

Internal Revenue Code or other applicable law and is approved by the Trustees of the Plan.  The 



- 2 - 
GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

Participating Employer acknowledges that it is solely responsible for submitting Employer 

Contributions in accordance with the terms of this Adoption Agreement, including submitting 

said Employer Contributions as scheduled based on its Payroll Period or the end of the Plan 

Year, as applicable. 

(b) The Participating Employer acknowledges that it may not be able to rely on the 

opinion letter if it makes certain elections under the Adoption Agreement or the Addendum, and 

that the failure to properly complete the Adoption Agreement may result in a failure of the 

Participating Employer's Plan to be a qualified plan. 

Section 4.  The Participating Employer hereby authorizes Georgia Municipal Association, 

Inc. ("GMA"), the Provider who sponsors the Plan on behalf of the Trustees, to amend the Plan 

on its behalf as provided under Revenue Procedures 2017-41, 2011-49, and 2007-44.  The 

Participating Employer understands that the implementing amendment reads as follows: 

GMA will maintain a record of the Participating Employers, and GMA 

will make reasonable and diligent efforts to ensure that Participating Employers 

have actually received and are aware of all Plan amendments and that such 

Participating Employers adopt new documents when necessary.  The provisions 

of this subsection shall supersede other provisions of the Plan to the extent those 

other provisions are inconsistent. 

The Trustees or GMA, as directed by the Trustees, hereby reserves the 

right to terminate the Plan without consent of the Participating Employers or of 

Participants (or any Beneficiaries thereof) and, likewise, to amend the Plan 

without consent of the Participating Employers or of Participants (or any 

Beneficiaries thereof) to make desired changes in the design of the Plan.  A true 

copy of the resolution of the Trustees approving such amendment shall be 

delivered to the Administrator and the Participating Employers.  The Plan shall be 

amended in the manner and effective as of the date set forth in such resolution, 

and the Participating Employers, Employees, Participants, Beneficiaries, the 

Administrator, and all others having any interest under the Plan shall be bound 

thereby.   

On and after February 17, 2005, GMA shall have the authority to advise 

and prepare amendments to the Plan, for approval by the Trustees, on behalf of all 

Participating Employers, including those Participating Employers who have 

adopted the Plan prior to the January 1, 2018, restatement of the Plan, for changes 

in the Code, the regulations thereunder, revenue rulings, other statements 

published by Internal Revenue Service, including model, sample, or other 

required good faith amendments (but only if their adoption will not cause such 

Plan to be individually designed), and for corrections of prior approved plans.  

These amendments shall be applied to all Participating Employers.  Any 

amendment prepared by the Provider and approved by the Trustees will be 

provided by the Administrator to Participating Employers.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing paragraphs, effective on or after June 27, 2016, for any Participating 

Employer as of either:  



- 3 - 
GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

• the date the Internal Revenue Service requires the Participating 

Employer to file Form 5300 as an individually designed plan as a 

result of an amendment by the Participating Employer to 

incorporate a type of Plan not allowable in a pre-approved plan, as 

described in Revenue Procedure 2017-41; or  

• as of the date of the Plan is otherwise considered an individually 

designed plan due to the nature and extent of the amendments,  

such Participating Employer shall execute a resolution to adopt any amendments that are 

approved by the Trustees after the date under subparagraph (1) or (2) above, as applicable, 

within the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after such Trustees' approval, or (ii) if applicable, the 

remedial amendment period under Code Section 401(b) as applicable to governmental plans.   If 

the Participating Employer is required to obtain a determination letter for any reason in order to 

maintain reliance on the opinion letter, GMA's authority to amend the Plan on behalf of the 

Participating Employer is conditioned on the Plan receiving a favorable determination letter. The 

Participating Employer further understands that, if it does not give its authorization hereunder or, 

in the alternative, adopt another pre-approved plan, its Plan will become an individually designed 

plan and will not be able to rely on the pre-approved plan opinion letter. 

Section 5. 

(a) The Participating Employer shall abide by the terms of the Plan and the Trust, 

including amendments to the Plan made under Section 4 and to the Trust made by the Trustees of 

the Plan, all investment, administrative, and other service agreements of the Plan and the Trust, 

and all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other applicable law. 

(b) The Participating Employer accepts the administrative services to be provided by 

GMA and any services provided by a Service Manager as delegated by the Trustees.  The 

Participating Employer acknowledges that fees will be imposed with respect to the services 

provided and that such fees may be deducted from the Participants' Accounts. 

Section 6. 

(a) The Participating Employer may terminate its participation in the Plan, including but 

not limited to, its contribution requirements, if it takes the following actions: 

(i) A resolution must be adopted terminating its participation in the Plan. 

(ii) The resolution must specify when the participation will end. 

 The Trustees shall determine whether the resolution complies with the Plan, and all 

applicable federal and state laws, shall determine an appropriate effective date, and shall provide 

appropriate forms to terminate ongoing participation.  However, distributions under the Plan of 

existing accounts to Participants will be made in accordance with the Plan. 



- 4 - 
GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

(b) The Participating Employer acknowledges that the Plan contains provisions for 

involuntary Plan termination. 

Section 7.  The Participating Employer acknowledges that all assets held in connection 

with the Plan, including all contributions to the Plan, all property and rights acquired or 

purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights 

shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries under the 

Plan.  No part of the assets and income of the Plan shall be used for, or diverted to, purposes 

other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries and for defraying 

reasonable expenses of the Plan.  All amounts of compensation deferred pursuant to the Plan, all 

property and rights acquired or purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such 

amounts, property or rights held as part of the Plan, shall be transferred to the Trustees to be 

held, managed, invested and distributed as part of the Trust Fund in accordance with the 

provisions of the Plan.  All contributions to the Plan must be transferred by the Participating 

Employer to the Trust Fund.  All benefits under the Plan shall be distributed solely from the 

Trust Fund pursuant to the Plan. 

Section 8.  This resolution and the Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) shall be 

submitted to the Trustees for their approval.  The Trustees shall determine whether the resolution 

complies with the Plan, and, if it does, shall provide appropriate forms to the Participating 

Employer to implement participation in the Plan.  The Trustees may refuse to approve an 

Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) by an Employer that does not have legal authority to 

participate in the Plan. The Governing Authority hereby acknowledges that it is responsible to 

assure that this resolution and the Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) are adopted and 

executed in accordance with the requirements of applicable law. 

Section 9.  As provided in Revenue Procedure 2017-41, the Participating Employer may 

relay on the Plan's Opinion Letter, provided that the Participating Employer's Plan is identical to 

the GMA Plan, and the Participating Employer has not amended or made any modifications to 

the Plan other than to choose the options permitted under the Plan and Adoption Agreement. 

 Adopted by the Governing Authority on  _________________________, _______, in 

accordance with applicable law. 

 

 By:        

  Signature 

 

 

          

  Name and Title 

 

Attest:  

 

Date:  

 



- 5 - 
GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

[Governing Authority should assure that applicable law is followed in the adoption and 

execution of this resolution.]

 



AA-1 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

GMA 401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

ADMINISTRATOR 

 
Georgia Municipal Association, Inc. 

201 Pryor Street, SW 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 

Telephone:  404-688-0472 

Facsimile:   678-686-6289 
 

 

PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER 

 

 Name:  City of Dawsonville, Georgia  

 

 

GOVERNING AUTHORITY 

 

 Name: Mayor and Council for the City of Dawsonville  

 Address: 415 Hwy 53 E Ste. 100, Dawsonville, GA 30534 

 Phone: 706-203-4917 

 Facsimile: 706-265-4214 

 Title of Person Authorized to receive Official Notices from the Plan or 

GMA: Finance Administrator  

 

DISCLOSURE OF OTHER 401(a) PLAN(S) 

 

 This Participating Employer  does or  does not have an existing defined contribution 

plan(s).  If the Participating Employer does have one or more defined contribution plans, the 

Governing Authority must provide the plan name, name of the plan's provider, and such other 

information requested by the Administrator. 

 

TYPE OF ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

NOTE:  This Adoption Agreement, with the accompanying Master Plan Document, is designed 

to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a), as applicable to a governmental qualified 

defined contribution plan, and is part of the GMA Defined Contribution and Deferred 

Compensation Program.  Plan provisions designed to comply with applicable provisions of 

additional changes in federal law and guidance from the Internal Revenue Service under Internal 

Revenue Service Notice 2017-37 (the 2017 Cumulative List) are effective as of the applicable 

effective dates set forth in the Adoption Agreement and Master Plan Document.  By adopting 



AA-2 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

this Adoption Agreement, with its accompanying Master Plan Document, the Participating 

Employer is adopting a plan document intended to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section 

401(a) and the 2017 Cumulative List with the applicable effective dates. 

 

This Adoption Agreement is for the following purpose (check one): 

 

 This is a new defined contribution plan adopted by the Participating Employer for 

its Employees effective July 1, 2021 (insert effective date of this Adoption 

Agreement but not earlier than the beginning of the plan year in which the 

plan is adopted), with respect to Contributions as approved by the Board of 

Trustees below. 

 

 Check this box if any non-conforming provisions will be included in Plan 

provisions.  An Addendum must be requested from GMA to be completed 

as part of the Adoption Agreement. 

 

 This is an amendment and restatement of the current GMA 401(a) Defined 

Contribution Plan or other defined contribution plan of the Participating 

Employer, the effective date of which shall be ________ (insert effective date of 

this Adoption Agreement but not earlier than the first day of the plan year in 

which the plan is restated or the beginning of the plan year in which the plan 

is adopted).  This Adoption Agreement is intended to replace and serve as an 

amendment and restatement of the Employer's preexisting plan, which became 

effective on __________________, ______ (insert original effective date of 

preexisting plan).   

 

 Check this box if (i) any preexisting plan provisions will be preserved 

from a superseded non-GMA plan or (ii) any non-conforming provisions 

will be included in Plan provisions.  An Addendum must be completed as 

part of the Adoption Agreement. 

 

 This is an amendment to be effective as of __________________, ______,  

(insert effective date of this Adoption Agreement but not earlier than then 

beginning of the remedial amendment period for such amendment) of the 

current GMA 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan previously adopted by the 

Participating Employer, which was originally effective _____________________, 

_____, as follows (must specify elective provisions in this Adoption 

Agreement): 

 
 _______________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 Check this box if any non-conforming provisions will be included in Plan 

provisions.  An Addendum must be completed as part of the Adoption 

Agreement. 

 

 

 



AA-3 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

PLAN YEAR 

 
Plan Year means the Participating Employer’s Fiscal Year.  For purposes of the limitations under 

Code Section 415(c) set forth in Article V of the Master Plan Document, the limitation year 

means the calendar year. 

 

The Employer’s Fiscal Year starts on: July 1 (insert month and day e.g., July 1). 

 

COVERED DEPARTMENTS 

 
 A Participating Employer may cover all of its departments in the Plan or only those listed 

(check one): 

 

 All Departments 

 

 Covered Departments (must specify):__________________________________ 

  ________________________________________________________________ 

   

 

ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES 

 

 Only Employees as defined in the Plan may be covered by the Adoption Agreement.  

Independent contractors may not participate in the Plan.  Subject to other conditions in the Plan 

and this Adoption Agreement, the following Employees of the Covered Departments are eligible 

to participate in the Plan, provided that they satisfy any additional eligibility requirements 

specified under "Other Eligibility Requirements" below (check one): 

 

 All 

 

 All with the following exclusions: 

 Municipal Legal Officer 

 Elected or appointed officials 

 Other1 (must specify and clearly define the ineligible classification of  

            employees):  

           

 

 Only employees in any eligible 457(b) plan of the Employer.  Note:  Please check 

this box if the sole purpose of this Plan is to provide Employer contributions to 

match Employee contributions to any eligible 457(b) Plan of the Employer. 

 

 Only employees in the Employer's GMA 457(b) plan.  Note:  Please check this 

box if the sole purpose of this Plan is to provide Employer contributions to match 

Employee contributions to the Employer's GMA 457(b) Plan.  

 

 
1 Do not specify the inclusion or exclusion of a participant by using the name of the employee. 



AA-4 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

 Other1 (must specify and clearly define the classification of Eligible 

Employees; Eligible Employees shall not include non-governmental 

employees, independent contractors, or any other ineligible individuals):   

_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                 . 

 

No employee may be excluded based on the attainment of a maximum age. 

 

The Employer shall provide the Administrator with the name, address, Social Security Number, 

and date of birth for each Eligible Employee, as defined by the Adoption Agreement.   

 

OTHER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS 

 

 Minimum Hours Per Week -- A Participating Employer may prescribe a minimum 

number of hours that an Employee must be scheduled and normally work in order to be an 

Eligible Employee under the Plan.  The Employer hereby elects the following (elect either “No 

Minimum Hours Required” or “Minimum Hours Required” below.  If you elect to have a 

minimum hour requirement you must specify the number of hours required in the space provided 

below).  The Minimum Hour Requirement below only applies to common law Employees of the 

Employer and does not apply to elected or appointed officials. 

 

 No Minimum Number of Hours Required 

 Minimum Hours Required Per Week (regularly scheduled): 

 30 hours/week (must not exceed 40 hours/week) 

  Other Minimum Hour Requirement (must specify):_____________________. 

 

Exceptions:  If a different minimum hour requirement applies to a particular class or classes of 

Eligible Employees, please specify below the classes to whom the different requirement applies 

and indicate the minimum hour requirement applicable to them.  

 

Class(es) of Eligible Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): _________________. 

Minimum hour requirement applicable to excepted Eligible Employees: 

 No Minimum Number of Hours Required 

 Minimum Hours Required Per Week (regularly scheduled): 

 ____________ (must not exceed 40 hours/week) 

  Other Minimum Hour Requirement (must specify):_____________________. 

 

 If any Eligible Employee ceases to meet the Minimum Hour Requirement (if any), he or 

she becomes ineligible for additional contributions until he or she once again meets the 



AA-5 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

requirement.  It is the Participating Employer's responsibility to monitor this requirement and to 

report to the Administrator a change in employee eligibility. 

 Waiting Period -- A Participating Employer may establish a waiting period before an 

Eligible Employee may become a Participant in the Plan.  The Employer hereby elects the 

following (elect "no waiting period" or one of the waiting period options below): 

 

 No waiting period.  An Eligible Employee may become a Participant 

immediately upon meeting the eligibility conditions of the Plan. 

 

 A waiting period described under one of the following options (check one): 

 

 Minimum Period of Service (please complete items below): 

 

The waiting period for participation in the Plan shall be _______________  

(not to exceed 12 months) of service, calculated from the commencement 

of the Eligible Employee's employment with the Employer.   

 

Eligible Employees who are employed on the date the Plan is adopted     

 will be  will not be given credit for prior service as an Employee for 

purposes of satisfying the waiting period. 

 

 Different periods of service  will be  will not be added together to 

determine whether the waiting period has been satisfied. 

 

 Minimum Period of Contributions to 457(b) Plan (please complete 

items below): 

 

The waiting period for participation in the Plan shall be _______________ 

(not to exceed 12 months) of the Eligible Employee's making 

contributions to the Employer's eligible 457(b) plan(s).   

 

Eligible Employees who are employed on the date the Plan is adopted     

 will be  will not be given credit for prior contributions made to the 

eligible 457(b) plan(s) for purposes of satisfying the waiting period.  

 

After initially meeting the waiting period, any interruption of employee 

contributions to the eligible 457(b) plan(s)  will  will not require the 

employee to meet another waiting period to qualify for matching 

contributions.   

 

Different periods of service in which deferrals are made as an Eligible 

Employee   will  will not be added together to determine if the waiting 

period has been satisfied. 

 



AA-6 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

Exceptions:  If a different waiting period requirement applies to a particular class or classes of 

Eligible Employees, please specify below the classes to whom the different requirement applies 

and indicate the waiting period requirement applicable to them.  

 

Class(es) of Eligible Employees to whom exception applies (must specify - specific positions 

are permissible; specific individuals may not be named): _________________. 

Waiting period requirement applicable to excepted Eligible Employees: 

 No waiting period.  An Eligible Employee may become a Participant 

immediately upon meeting the eligibility conditions of the Plan.  

 

 A waiting period described under one of the following options (check one): 

 

 Minimum Period of Service (please complete items below): 

 

The waiting period for participation in the Plan shall be _______________ 

(not to exceed 12 months) of service, calculated from the commencement 

of the Eligible Employee's employment with the Employer.   

 

Eligible Employees who are employed on the date the Plan is adopted     

 will be  will not be given credit for prior service as an Employee for 

purposes of satisfying the waiting period. 

 

 Different periods of service  will be  will not be added together to 

determine whether the waiting period has been satisfied. 

 

 Minimum Period of Contributions to 457(b) Plan (please complete 

items below): 

 

The waiting period for participation in the Plan shall be _______________ 

(not to exceed 12 months) of the Eligible Employee's making 

contributions to the Employer's eligible 457(b) plan(s).   

 

Eligible Employees who are employed on the date the Plan is adopted     

 will be  will not be given credit for prior contributions made to the 

eligible 457(b) plan(s) for purposes of satisfying the waiting period.  

 

After initially meeting the waiting period, any interruption of employee 

contributions to the eligible 457(b) plan(s)  will  will not require the 

employee to meet another waiting period to qualify for matching 

contributions.   

 

Different periods of service in which deferrals are made as an Eligible 

Employee   will  will not be added together to determine if the waiting 

period has been satisfied. 
 



AA-7 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

 A Participating Employer may make Matching Contributions and/or Non-Matching 

Contributions as specified below.  Matching Contributions and Non-Matching Contributions that 

are tied to Payroll Periods (as defined in this Adoption Agreement) must be remitted to the 

Administrator no later than 15 business days after the end of the Payroll Period.  Annual 

Contributions must be remitted to the Administrator no later than 15 days after the end of the 

Plan Year.  A Participating Employer may establish one or more classes of employees for 

contribution purposes in this Adoption Agreement. However, no employee may be excluded 

from contributions based on the attainment of a maximum age.   

  

 The Participating Employer hereby elects to make contributions as follows (check 

matching, non-matching, or both as applicable): 

 

 Matching Contributions 

 

 Employer Contributions shall be made to match all or a portion of a Participant's 

contribution to an eligible 457(b) deferred compensation plan, including but not limited to the 

GMA Deferred Compensation Plan.  The Employer must identify the class or classes of 

Participants for whom contributions will be made and the contribution formula: 

 

Class A Matching Contributions will be made on the following basis for Class A Participants: 

 

Class A Participants are (check one): 

 

 All Eligible Employees 

 Other (must specify; specific positions are permissible; must be 

Eligible Employees; specific individuals may not be named): 

________________________________________________ 

 

The Employer elects the following matching contribution formula for Class A Participants 

(check and complete "Percentage Match," "Flat Dollar Match," or "Other Formula" 

below):  

 

 Percentage Match:  For each Payroll Period in which the Participant contributed 

to the City of Dawsonville’s Georgia Municipal Association 457(b) Plan 

(insert plan name), an eligible 457(b) Plan of the Employer, the Employer will 

contribute 100% (insert percentage) of the dollar amount contributed to the 

457(b) Plan.  (For example, if an Employer elects a 50% match, then for every 

$10 the Participant contributes to an eligible 457(b) Plan, the Employer will 

contribute $5 to this Plan).   

 

Cap on Percentage Match - The Employer may wish to establish a cap on its 

matching contributions, so that the percentage (%) match amount indicated above 

cannot exceed a certain amount per Payroll Period.  The Employer hereby elects 



AA-8 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

the following cap on its percentage matching contribution (check and fill in $ or 

% of compensation limit to apply below, or check "no cap" below): 

 

 Flat Dollar Cap: In no event will Matching Contributions made on behalf 

of a Participant exceed a flat dollar amount equal to (complete as 

applicable):  

 

$____________ per weekly Payroll Period 

$____________ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

  $____________ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

  $____________ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

[Note: If the Employer has more than one Payroll Period, you should 

indicate dollar cap that will apply with respect to each Payroll Period 

e.g., $100 per weekly Payroll Period, and $200 per bi-weekly Payroll 

Period].   

 

 Cap Equal to Percentage of Total Compensation: In no event will 

Matching Contributions made on behalf of a Participant exceed 1.5% of 

the Participant's §457(e)(5) includable compensation (gross income from 

the Employer) per Payroll Period. 

 

 No Cap 

 

 Flat Dollar Match:  For each Payroll Period in which the Participant contributed 

at least $ _______ (may be $1 to $25) to an eligible 457(b) Plan of the Employer, 

the Participating Employer will contribute a flat dollar amount as shown below 

(complete as applicable):  

 

 

$_______ per weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

$_______ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

 Other Formula for Calculating Matching Contributions (must specify 

formula that complies with definitely determinable requirements of Treasury 

Regulations Section 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to 

governmental plans under Code Sections 401(a)(17) and 415): 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

[Do not complete following section on Class B Matching Contributions if all Eligible 

Employees are included in Class A above]. 



AA-9 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

 

Class B Matching Contributions will be made on the following basis for Class B Participants: 

 

Class B Participants are (must specify; specific positions are permissible; must be Eligible 

Employees; specific individuals may not be named):  

_____________________________________________________________________________. 

 

The Employer elects the following matching contribution formula for Class B Participants 

(check and complete "Percentage Match," "Flat Dollar Match," or "Other Formula" 

below):  

 

 Percentage Match:  For each Payroll Period in which the Participant contributed 

to ______________________________________________________________ 

(insert plan name), an eligible 457(b) Plan of the Employer, the Employer will 

contribute ___________% (insert percentage) of the dollar amount contributed 

to the 457(b) Plan.  (For example, if an Employer elects a 50% match, then for 

every $10 the Participant contributes to an eligible 457(b) Plan, the Employer will 

contribute $5 to this Plan).   

 

Cap on Percentage Match - The Employer may wish to establish a cap on its 

matching contributions, so that the percentage (%) match amount indicated above 

cannot exceed a certain amount per Payroll Period.  The Employer hereby elects 

the following cap on its percentage matching contribution (check and fill in $ or 

% of compensation limit to apply below, or check "no cap" below): 

 

 Flat Dollar Cap:  In no event will Matching Contributions made on 

behalf of a Participant exceed a flat dollar amount equal to (complete as 

applicable):  

 

$____________ per weekly Payroll Period 

$____________ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

  $____________ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

  $____________ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

[Note: If the Employer has more than one Payroll Period, you should 

indicate dollar cap that will apply with respect to each Payroll Period 

e.g., $100 per weekly Payroll Period, and $200 per bi-weekly Payroll 

Period].   

 

 Cap Equal to Percentage of Total Compensation: In no event will 

Matching Contributions made on behalf of a Participant exceed 

_________% of the Participant's §457(e)(5) includable compensation 

(gross income from the Employer) per Payroll Period. 

 

 No Cap 

 



AA-10 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

 Flat Dollar Match:  For each Payroll Period in which the Participant contributed 

at least $ _______ (may be $1 to $25) to an eligible 457(b) Plan of the Employer, 

the Participating Employer will contribute a flat dollar amount as shown below 

(complete as applicable):  

 

$_______ per weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

$_______ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

 

 Other Formula for Calculating Matching Contributions (must specify 

formula that complies with definitely determinable requirements of Treasury 

Regulations Section 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate limits applicable to 

governmental plans under Code Sections 401(a)(17) and 415): 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

[Skip to "Payroll Period" below if Employer is not going to make Non-Matching 

Contributions] 

 

 Non-Matching Contributions 

 

 The Employer hereby elects to make contributions to the Plan without regard to a 

Participant's contribution to an eligible 457(b) plan(s).  The Employer must identify the class or 

classes of Participants for whom these contributions will be made and the contribution formula: 

 

Non-Matching Contributions shall be made on the following basis for Class C 

Participants: 

 

  Class C Participants are (check one): 

 

 All Eligible Employees 

 Other (must specify; specific positions are permissible; must be 

Eligible Employees; specific individuals may not be named):  

__________________________________________ 

 

 The Employer elects the following contribution formula for Class C Participants (check 

one): 

 

 Year-End Contributions:  A one-time Plan Year-end contribution of 

$_________ or _______% of Compensation per Participant. 

 



AA-11 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

 ______% of Compensation per Participant for each Payroll Period. 

 

 A flat dollar amount per Payroll Period as shown below (complete as 

applicable): 

 

$_______ per weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

$_______ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

 

 Other Formula for Calculating Non-Matching Contributions (must 

specify formula that complies with definitely determinable 

requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and 

does not violate limits applicable to governmental plans under Code 

Sections 401(a)(17) and 415): 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

    

[Do not complete the following section on Class D Non-Matching Contributions if all 

Eligible Employees are included in Class C above]. 

 

Non-Matching Contributions shall be made on the following basis for Class D Participants:   

 

Class D Participants are (must specify; specific positions are permissible; must 

be Eligible Employees; specific individuals may not be named): 

________________________________________________. 

 

 The Employer elects the following contribution formula for Class D Participants (check 

one): 

 

 Year-End Contributions:  A one-time Plan Year-end contribution of 

$______________ or ______% of Compensation per Participant. 

 

 ______% of Compensation per Participant for each Payroll Period. 

 

 A flat dollar amount per Pay Period as shown below (complete as 

applicable): 

 

$_______ per weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per bi-weekly Payroll Period 

$_______ per semi-monthly Payroll Period 

$_______ per monthly Payroll Period 

 

 Other Formula for Calculating Non-Matching Contributions (must specify 

formula that complies with definitely determinable requirements of 



AA-12 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

Treasury Regulations Section 1.401-1(b)(1)(i) and does not violate 

limits applicable to governmental plans under Code Sections 

401(a)(17) and 415): 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

   ____________________________________________________________ 

 

For purposes of computing non-matching contributions, "Compensation" is defined in the Plan, 

subject to the limits imposed by Georgia Code Section 47-1-13(b) and Internal Revenue Code 

Section 401(a)(17), as adjusted for cost-of-living increases under Internal Revenue Code Section 

401(a)(17)(B). 

 

The Participating Employer must monitor contributions to the Plan on behalf of a Participant to 

this Plan and any other 401(a) plan maintained by the Participating Employer to confirm 

compliance with Internal Revenue Code Section 415 and Article 5 of the Master Plan.  To the 

extent an amendment to this Adoption Agreement is needed to satisfy the Internal Revenue Code 

Section 415 limit that could not otherwise be provided for in the above Sections, please complete 

as applicable: 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

COMPENSATION 
 

Compensation Paid After Severance From Employment -- A Participating Employer 

may elect to include certain post-severance payments in Compensation for purposes of 

computing contributions under the Plan, but only if these amounts are paid no later than 2½ 

months after severance from employment or, if later, the end of the calendar year that includes a 

Participant's severance from employment, and only if it is a payment that, absent a severance 

from employment, would have been paid to the Participant while the Participant continued in 

employment with the Participating Employer.  The Participating Employer makes the following 

election with respect to including post-severance payments in Compensation (Note: if the 

following is not completed, no post-severance payments will be included in Compensation by 

default): 

 

 No post-severance payments will be included in Compensation for purposes of 

computing contributions under the Plan (if this box is checked, skip to "Payroll 

Period" below). 

 

 For purposes of calculating contributions under the Plan, the following post-

severance payments will be included in Compensation, as long as: 1) they are paid 

no later than 2½ months after severance from employment or, if later, the end of 

the calendar year that includes the Participant's severance from employment; and 



AA-13 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

2) absent a severance from employment, they would have been paid to the 

Participant while the Participant continued in employment with the Participating 

Employer  (check all that apply): 

 

 regular compensation paid after severance from employment for services 

rendered prior to severance during the Participant's regular working hours 

 

 compensation paid after severance from employment for services rendered 

prior to severance outside the Participant's regular work hours (such as 

overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar 

payments 

 

 post-severance payments for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation or  

other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to use the 

leave if employment had continued 

 

 Other:            

           

           

 

VESTING FOR EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

 A Participating Employer may establish a vesting schedule for Employer Contributions.  

This means that if the Participant leaves the Participating Employer's employment prior to 

completing a specified period of service (not to exceed 5 years), the Participant forfeits all or part 

of the Employer's Contributions.   However, upon Death or Disability or the termination of the 

Plan, the Participant is 100% vested in the Participant's Employer Contributions, notwithstanding 

any vesting schedule.  If a vesting schedule is established, it is the Employer's responsibility to 

calculate the Eligible Employee's service and report it to the Administrator.  Unless otherwise 

specified below, for purposes of vesting, service means the number of years and complete 

months of service of a Participant as an Eligible Employee of the Employer and the Participant's 

service begins with the first day of employment as an Eligible Employee.  The Employer hereby 

elects the following (check one): 

 

 Immediate Vesting.  No vesting schedule.  Employer Contributions are 100% 

vested from the time credited to the Participant's Account (if this option is 

elected, do not complete the rest of this section). 

 

 Cliff Vesting.  Employer Contributions are 100% vested after a Participant has 

been employed as an Eligible Employee for _________ years (not to exceed 5 

years) (the "Vesting Period"). Matching contributions remain 0% vested until the 

Participant satisfies the full Vesting Period.  

 

 Graduated Vesting Schedule.  Employer Contributions are vested on the 

following graduated scale (insert vesting % for each completed year of service 



AA-14 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

as an Eligible Employee. Note: Maximum waiting period for 100% vesting 

may not exceed 5 years):  

 

Completed Years 

of Service as Eligible Employee 

 

Vested % 

  

1 year 

2 years 

3 years 

4 years 

5 years 

20 % 

40 % 

60 % 

80 % 

100 % 

 

   

Complete the following items if Employer has elected Cliff Vesting or Graduated Vesting: 

 

In determining the Participant's total years of service for vesting purposes, Eligible 

Employees who are employed on the date the Plan is adopted by the Employer (check 

one):   will be   will not be given credit for prior service as an Eligible Employee. 

 

In determining the Participant's total years of service for vesting purposes, different 

periods of employment as an Eligible Employee (check one):   will be added together 

 will not be added together   will be added together if the Participant is reemployed 

with the Employer before completing a period of separation of ___________ years (not 

to exceed 5 years). 

 

TREATMENT OF FORFEITURES 
 

 If a Participant separates from service, the Participant's non-vested Employer 

Contributions shall be forfeited as of the date of the Participant's Separation from Service.  

Amounts forfeited during a Plan Year shall be held unallocated until they are used to reduce or 

otherwise supplement Employer Contributions as of the earliest possible date such contributions 

are required to be made to the Plan.  If there are no future Employer Contributions (as in the case 

of a frozen plan), forfeitures shall be used for administrative expenses; after which, any 

remaining forfeitures shall be allocated to Participants' Accounts. 

 

MODIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

 If a Participating Employer desires to amend any of its elections contained in this 

Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum), the Governing Authority by official action must adopt 

an amended Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum, if applicable) and forward the amended 

Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) to the Trustees for approval.  The amended Adoption 

Agreement (and Addendum) is not effective until approved by the Trustees and other procedures 

required by the Plan have been implemented. 

 

The Administrator will inform the Participating Employer of any amendments made by 

the Trustees to the Plan.  If there are no future Employer Contributions (as in the case of a frozen 



AA-15 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

plan), forfeitures shall be used for administrative expenses, and, if forfeitures remain, shall be 

allocated to Participants' accounts. 

 

TERMINATION OF THE ADOPTION AGREEMENT 
 

 This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may be terminated only in accordance 

with the Plan. 

The Administrator will inform the Participating Employer of the discontinuance or 

abandonment of the Plan by the Trustees. 

EXECUTION BY EMPLOYER 

 

 This Adoption Agreement (and any Addendum) may only be used in conjunction with 

the Georgia Municipal Association 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan Master Plan Document 

approved by the Internal Revenue Service under an opinion letter Q702380a dated June 30, 

2020. 

The failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement (or any Addendum), or to 

operate and maintain the Plan and Trust in accordance with the terms of the completed Adoption 

Agreement (and any Addendum), Master Plan Document and Trust, may result in 

disqualification of the Plan under the Code.  Inquiries regarding the adoption of the Plan, the 

meaning of Plan provisions, or the effect of the IRS opinion letter should be directed to the 

Administrator.  The Administrator is the Georgia Municipal Association, Inc., with its primary 

business offices located at: 201 Pryor Street, SW, Atlanta, Georgia 30303.  The business 

telephone number is: (404) 688-0472.  The primary person to contact is GMA General Counsel 

or Deputy Executive Director, Risk Management and Employee Benefits. 

The foregoing Adoption Agreement is hereby adopted and approved on the _____ day of 

______________, __________, by the Mayor and Council of the City of Dawsonville. 

 

 Signed:         

 

 Printed Name:        

 

 Title:          

 

 Date of Signature:        



AA-16 

GMA 401(a) DC Plan City of Dawsonville 

 

TRUSTEES APPROVAL 

 

The Adoption Agreement is approved by the Board of Trustees of the GMA Defined 

Contribution and Deferred Compensation Plan.   

 

[Complete the following if the purpose of this Adoption Agreement is to establish a new 

defined contribution plan or to restate a preexisting defined contribution plan of the 

Participating Employer (other than a GMA 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan).] 

 

Contributions shall first be remitted as follows: 

 

 within 15 business days after the Payroll Period ending ______________, _____. 

 

 On the following prospective date (specify a specific date): ________________. 

 

Dated: ___________________ By:          

 

 Title:         

  on behalf of the Board of Trustees 
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE GEORGIA MOUNTAIN REGIONAL COMMISSION REAPPOINTMENT 

OF BETSY MCGRIFF   
   

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/7/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REAPPOINT BETSY MCGRIFF AS THE MEMBER REPRESENTING THE PRIVATE SECTOR 
OF DAWSON COUNTY FOR THE GEORGIA MOUNTAIN REGIONAL COMMISSION COUNCIL  

 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
    

• BETSY MCGRIFF SERVED AS THE PRIVATE SECTOR APPOINTEE FOR THE LAST 
TWO YEARS 

• REAPPOINTMENT IS SCHEDULED AT THE 06/24/2021 GMRC COUNCIL MEETING 
• DEADLINE TO SUBMIT APPOINTMENT SELECTION IS 06/07/2021 

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor_____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7d     
 

 

 



 

     
   P.O. Box 1720 • Gainesville, Georgia 30503 •  Phone (770)538-2626  •  FAX (770)538-2625 

 
 

 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
To: Local Government Mayors, Sole Commissioners or Commission Chairmen, City and 

County Managers, City and County Clerks, and Private Sector Appointees.  
 

From: Heather Feldman, Executive Director 
 
Date:  May 6, 2021 
 
Re: Appointment or Reappointment of Private Sector Members of the GMRC Council 
 
As you all know, each of our counties have one Private Sector Appointee on the GMRC Council. 
These individuals are considered for reappointment, or another is considered for appointment at 
the June 24, 2021 Council Meeting that will be held via Zoom.  
 
We encourage the county and its cities to jointly agree on the appointee. I encourage you to 
discuss with each other and the appointee of your intentions. If we do not hear differently, we 
assume that you do not plan to change your current appointment, so it is very important that you 
notify GMRC of your intentions. The appointment form is attached, and should be returned, by 
email, to Gina Kessler by June 7, 2021. Should you have any questions, please contact Gina 
Kessler at 770-538-2607 or gkessler@gmrc.ga.gov. 
 
FY21 private sector appointees were: 

 
                County    Appointee   
  Banks    Vicki Boling 
  Dawson    Betsy McGriff 
  Franklin    Gerald Voyles 
  Habersham    Ken Schubring 
  Hall    Deborah Mack  
  Hart    Bill Chafin 
  Lumpkin   J.B. Jones  
  Rabun    Doug Wayne 
  Stephens    Connie Tabor 
  Towns    Denise McKay  
  Union    Mitch Griggs 
  White    Bill Black 

mailto:gkessler@gmrc.ga.gov


                                           
 

 

 
SUBJECT:   ANX C2100192 AND ZA C2100192         

 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  JUNE 7, 2021     _____ 

  
 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:       PUBLIC HEARING  
 
ANX C2100043 and ZA C2100043:  Charles Alan Barge has petitioned to annex into the city limits of Dawsonville 
the 44.82 acres combined tracts known as TMP 070 050, located at 612 Duck Thurmond Rd, 2.98 acres; 
TMP 070 004, located at 690 Duck Thurmond Rd, 2.95 acres; TMP 069 037 located at 694 Duck Thurmond 
Rd, 14.46 acres; TMP 069 089, located at 788 Duck Thurmond Rd; 2.96 acres; TMP 069 036, located 840 
Duck Thurmond Rd, 14.38 acres; TMP 069 073, located at 914 Duck Thurmond Rd, 7.09 acres; with a 
request to rezone from County Zoning of RSRMM (Residential Sub-Rural Manufactured/Moved) to City 
Zoning of R1 (Single Family Residential).  Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on May 10, 2021, 
and City Council on June 7, 2021.  City Council for a decision on June 21, 2021. 

 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 

• The proposed density is .65 units per acre. 
• Planning Department recommends A 40’-foot undisturbed buffer be considered along the perimeter 

Lot lines 1 – 13 and 28 – 29. 
• The Planning Commission held a public hearing on May 10, 2021 and approved the request with no 

conditions. 
• Dawson County Board of Commissioners heard the annexation request on May 6, 2021 and had no 

objections and did not take a vote.  Approval by default will be May 17, 2021. 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 
RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Approve, Deny or Postpone 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning 

 
REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer 

 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 8 
 





































































































































                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  PROPOSED FY 2021-2022 BUDGET ________  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 TO HOLD A PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE PROPOSED FY 2021-2022 BUDGET 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• MAY 21, 2021 – PRESENTED THE FY 2021-2022 BUDGET TO THE COUNCIL & PUBLIC 
• JUNE 7, 2021 – PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE PROPOSED FY 2021-2022 BUDGET 
• JUNE 21, 2020 – CONSIDERATION OF FY 2022 BUDGET ADOPTION BY RESOLUTION     

      
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
     APPROVE, AMEND, DENY OR TABLE 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:   Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    9      
 

 

 



FUND ACCOUNT NAME FUNCTION REVENUE EXPENSES

100 GENERAL FUND 1100 $99,215.00

1300 $21,480.00

1400 $8,000.00

1500 $947,232.00

1565 $131,135.00

3900 $1,523.00

4200 $520,995.00

6200 $53,913.00

7400 $380,300.00

7540/7550 $59,000.00

$2,222,793.00 $2,222,793.00

275 HOTEL-MOTEL TAX  $5,502.00 $5,502.00

285 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY $29,400.00 $29,400.00

320 SPLOST VI $556,000.00 $556,000.00

505 ENTERPRISE 4300 $1,175,488.00 $1,175,488.00

4400 $711,337.00 $711,337.00

$1,886,825.00 $1,886,825.00

530 CAPITAL OUTLAY 4300 $225,000.00 $75,000.00

4400 $260,000.00 $410,000.00

$485,000.00 $485,000.00

540 GARBAGE 4310 $208,200.00 $208,200.00

790 CEMETERY 4950 $18,430.00 $18,430.00

FY 2020-21 TOTAL REVENUE $5,412,150.00

FY 2020-21 TOTAL EXPENDITURES $5,412,150.00

 

SEWER

WATER

SEWER TAPS 

WATER TAPS

SOLID WASTE

CEMETERY

PLANNING & ZONING

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

 

 

ELECTIONS

ADMINISTRATION

CITYHALL BUILDING

ANIMAL CONTROL

ROADS

PARKS

CITY OF D.AWSONVILLE

BUDGET FY 2021-22

DESCRIPTION

COUNCIL

MAYOR

Page 1 of 23



REVENUE

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

100-0000-311100 ELECTRIC FRANCHISE FEES                 160,000.00 160,000.00 161,819.94 160,000.00

100-0000-311315 MOTOR VEHICLE TITLE AD VALOREM TAX      50,000.00 120,000.00 58,123.43 58,000.00

100-0000-311730 GAS FRANCHISE FEES                      13,000.00 12,500.00 16,408.80 13,000.00

100-0000-311750 TV CABLE FRANCHISE FEES                 12,000.00 12,000.00 1,379.40 0.00

100-0000-311760 TELEPHONE FRANCHISE FEES                25,000.00 30,000.00 24,969.26 20,000.00

100-0000-311790 GARBAGE FRANCHISE FEES                  13,000.00 6,000.00 8,226.00 10,000.00

100-0000-311795 BROADBAND FRANCHISE FEE                 1,200.00 500.00 774.00 1,200.00

100-0000-313100 LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX                  825,000.00 1,100,000.00 1,092,447.29 1,250,000.00

100-0000-314200 ALCOHOL EXCISE TAX                      80,000.00 100,000.00 109,170.05 115,000.00

100-0000-314500 EXCISE TAX ON ENERGY                    50.00 50.00 44.77 50.00

100-0000-316100 OCCUPATION TAX                          30,000.00 21,519.00 39,728.23 34,000.00

100-0000-316200 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX                   205,000.00 195,000.00 214,953.37 210,000.00

100-0000-316300 FINANCIAL INSTITUTION TAX               8,000.00 10,000.00 7,703.99 7,500.00

100-0000-321100 ALCOHOL LICENSE                         25,000.00 25,000.00 27,570.00 27,000.00

100-0000-321150 CATERING EVENT PERMIT                   200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00

100-0000-322210 ZONING & LAND USE FEES                  6,500.00 7,500.00 12,162.05 9,000.00

100-0000-322215 ANNEXATION FEE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

100-0000-322230 SIGN PERMIT                             0.00 0.00 22,180.00 1,500.00

100-0000-322240 VARIANCE APPLICATION FEE                1,500.00 3,000.00 2,400.00 1,800.00

100-0000-322250 DEMOLITION PERMIT 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

100-0000-322990 PARADE/PUBLIC ASSEMBLY FEE              550.00 550.00 1,000.00 800.00

100-0000-322995 PARADE/PUBLIC ASSEMBLY CLEANUP  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

100-0000-323100 BUILDING PERMIT                         45,000.00 45,000.00 84,134.38 60,000.00

100-0000-323111 CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY FEE            4,000.00 4,000.00 4,960.00 4,200.00

100-0000-323130 PLUMBING PERMIT FEES                    3,500.00 3,500.00 6,150.00 4,400.00

100-0000-323140 ELECTRIC PERMIT FEES                    4,000.00 4,000.00 6,820.00 4,700.00

100-0000-323160 HVAC PERMIT FEES                        4,500.00 4,500.00 5,860.00 4,000.00

100-0000-323900 OTHER - GRADING FEES                    6,000.00 40,000.00 2,442.40 5,000.00

100-0000-323901 OTHER - PLAN REVIEW FEES                12,000.00 3,000.00 11,835.00 12,000.00

100-0000-334150 SAFETY GRANT 3,000.00 500.00 5,109.83 3,000.00

100-0000-334200 HEALTH GRANT                            0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

100-0000-334250 CARES ACT GRANT 0.00 50,940.00 96,060.02 0.00

100-0000-334310 STATE GRANT CAPITAL-LMIG DIRECT         25,000.00 25,000.00 32,849.72 32,000.00

100-0000-341400 MISC REVENUE                            3,000.00 3,000.00 18,645.04 3,000.00

100-0000-343000 INFRASTRUCTURE FEE                      45,000.00 45,000.00 0.00 0.00

100-0000-346100           ANIMAL CONTROL AND SHELTER FEES         100.00 500.00 150.00 2,625.00

100-0000-349300 BAD CHECK FEE                           25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00

100-0000-343001 ENGINEERING FEE 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00

100-0000-351170 MUNICIPAL COURT FEES 0.00 1,000.00 1,848.60 500.00

100-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         45,000.00 45,000.00 1,924.78 2,200.00

100-0000-381000 RENTAL INCOME - DMC                     55,000.00 55,000.00 38,743.11 42,000.00

100-1400-341910 ELECTION QUALIFYING FEE                 0.00 1,600.00 0.00 0.00

100-1500-311340 INTANGIBLES TAX                         28,000.00 28,000.00 49,802.72 55,000.00

100-1500-311601 REAL ESTATE TRANSFER TAX                9,000.00 11,000.00 16,663.41 15,000.00

100-0000-740000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 131,473.00 0.00 0.00 44,018.00

GENERAL FUND Revenue Totals:  1,879,698.00 2,174,484.00 2,185,159.59 2,222,793.00

BUDGET FY 2020-21

GENERAL FUND - 100                            

Page 2 of 23



EXPENDITURES

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

 DEPARTMENT: COUNCIL   

100-1100-511000 COUNCIL: SALARIES                                34,000.00 34,000.00 28,020.00 34,000.00

100-1100-512100 COUNCIL: GROUP INSURANCE                         56,535.00 56,075.00 47,867.20 56,535.00

100-1100-512200 COUNCIL: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 2,600.00 2,600.00 1,866.60 2,600.00

100-1100-523200 COUNCIL: COMMUNICATIONS - CELL PHONE   4,080.00 3,630.00 3,434.85 4,080.00

100-1100-523500 COUNCIL: TRAVEL                                  1,000.00 6,320.00 0.00 1,000.00

100-1100-523700 COUNCIL: EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,000.00

 DEPARTMENT: MAYOR      99,215.00

100-1300-511000 MAYOR: SALARIES                                17,000.00 14,600.00 13,380.00 17,000.00

100-1300-512100 MAYOR: GROUP INSURANCE                         60.00 14,000.00 38.40 60.00

100-1300-512200 MAYOR: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 1,300.00 950.00 1,037.26 1,300.00

100-1300-523200 MAYOR: COMMUNICATIONS - CELL PHONE 1,020.00 1,470.00 780.00 1,020.00

100-1300-523500 MAYOR: TRAVEL                                  1,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 1,100.00

100-1300-523700 MAYOR: EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,000.00

 DEPARTMENT: ELECTIONS    21,380.00

100-1400-521203 ELECTIONS: PROFESSIONAL OTHER                 0.00 12,200.00 0.00 8,000.00

100-1400-523300 ELECTIONS: ADVERTISING                             0.00 1,200.00 0.00 0.00

100-1400-523400 ELECTIONS: PRINTING AND BINDING                    0.00 450.00 0.00 0.00

100-1400-531100 ELECTIONS: SUPPLIES                                0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00

 DEPARTMENT: ADMINISTRATION    0.00

100-1500-511000 ADMINISTRATION: SALARIES                                338,798.00 332,616.00 302,372.80 360,597.00

100-1500-512100 ADMINISTRATION: GROUP INSURANCE           117,948.00 110,900.00 91,993.77 153,948.00

100-1500-512200 ADMINISTRATION: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA     25,919.00 25,445.00 25,816.94 31,251.00

100-1500-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                19,800.00 13,500.00 17,874.58 19,800.00

100-1500-512700 WORKERS COMP                            1,500.00 600.00 5,582.00 4,313.00

100-1500-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      85,000.00 112,410.00 92,837.27 98,806.00

100-1500-521201 PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 19,000.00 19,000.00 13,043.34 19,000.00

100-1500-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      15,000.00 15,000.00 20,052.04 15,035.00

100-1500-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES (IT)                 15,000.00 26,000.00 9,657.15 19,245.00

100-1500-521315 TECHNICAL SERVICES-PAYROLL ACH          3,100.00 2,700.00 2,427.63 3,200.00

100-1500-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   4,000.00 4,000.00 9,361.21 4,039.00

100-1500-522320 RENTAL EQUIPMENT       2,400.00 3,600.00 2,026.05 2,705.00

100-1500-523000 OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES                15,000.00 11,200.00 26,454.00 32,000.00

100-1500-523100 INSURANCE OTHER THAN EMPL               23,100.00 20,000.00 31,138.00 23,100.00

100-1500-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          10,000.00 11,400.00 9,038.45 10,138.00

100-1500-523300 ADVERTISING                             1,000.00 5,000.00 4,508.27 1,500.00

100-1500-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    1,500.00 1,500.00 289.90 1,056.00

100-1500-523500 TRAVEL                                  4,000.00 18,000.00 680.87 4,000.00

100-1500-523600 DUES & FEES                             12,000.00 12,000.00 7,760.71 12,019.00

100-1500-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    4,000.00 11,500.00 2,445.00 4,000.00

100-1500-523910 UNIFORMS 300.00 500.00 631.00 300.00

100-1500-531100 SUPPLIES                                18,000.00 40,000.00 49,447.79 25,000.00

100-1500-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  1,000.00 1,400.00 753.67 1,061.00

100-1500-531300 FOOD                                    2,500.00 4,000.00 1,032.80 2,500.00

100-1500-541000 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00

100-1500-581000 CONTINGENCY 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

100-1500-999999 PMTS TO OTHER - DAWSON 0.00 0.00 0.00 93,618.00

 DEPARTMENT: CITYHALL BLDG            739,865.00

100-1565-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      2,000.00 3,000.00 7,819.15 4,000.00

100-1565-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   43,000.00 45,000.00 65,649.92 43,000.00

100-1565-522201 R & M - GRHOF 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00

GENERAL FUND - 100                            

Page 3 of 23



100-1565-522202 R & M - DISTILLERY 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00

100-1565-531100 SUPPLIES                                22,000.00 45,000.00 23,815.77 25,000.00

100-1565-531220 ENERGY NATURAL GAS                      8,000.00 9,000.00 7,394.81 8,563.00

100-1565-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      43,000.00 52,000.00 40,051.20 46,572.00

 DEPARTMENT: ANIMAL CONTROL              118,000.00

100-3900-523600 DUES & FEES                             500.00 500.00 100.00 500.00

100-3900-531100 SUPPLIES                                1,000.00 1,500.00 42.85 1,023.00

 DEPARTMENT: ROADS                       1,500.00

100-4200-511000 SALARIES                                228,980.00 216,823.00 218,528.90 244,000.00

100-4200-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         74,970.00 64,866.00 61,258.98 75,000.00

100-4200-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 17,517.00 16,587.00 16,446.27 21,000.00

100-4200-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                3,300.00 1,980.00 3,800.76 3,400.00

100-4200-512700 WORKERS COMP                            16,000.00 7,000.00 22,526.00 27,000.00

100-4200-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      7,500.00 7,500.00 2,937.42 6,000.00

100-4200-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                4,500.00 5,000.00 1,223.90 4,500.00

100-4200-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      7,000.00 7,000.00 7,159.70 7,000.00

100-4200-522110           GARBAGE SERVICES                        1,200.00 2,000.00 961.61 1,200.00

100-4200-522140 STREET SWEEPING/GROUNDSUP               12,600.00 12,600.00 9,900.00 12,500.00

100-4200-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   52,000.00 50,000.00 15,833.64 35,000.00

100-4200-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          5,000.00 5,000.00 3,226.87 5,120.00

100-4200-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    100.00 100.00 176.90 100.00

100-4200-523500 TRAVEL                                  2,000.00 2,000.00 644.00 2,000.00

100-4200-523600 DUES & FEES                             1,500.00 1,000.00 1,744.03 1,513.00

100-4200-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,500.00 3,000.00 1,245.00 1,500.00

100-4200-523910 UNIFORM SERVICE                         2,500.00 2,000.00 1,735.71 2,762.00

100-4200-531100 SUPPLIES                                17,500.00 17,500.00 14,306.00 19,330.00

100-4200-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      40,000.00 42,000.00 41,184.58 43,318.00

100-4200-531240 ENERGY BOTTLED GAS                      500.00 1,200.00 1,271.90 2,000.00

100-4200-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  6,350.00 6,328.00 5,455.66 6,753.00

100-4200-541400 INFRASTRUCTURE-GDOT LMIG                35,000.00 35,000.00 72,991.75 0.00

 DEPARTMENT: PARKS                       537,517.00

100-6200-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   17,000.00 20,000.00 51,150.55 20,000.00

100-6200-531100 SUPPLIES                                12,000.00 20,000.00 39,727.54 15,000.00

100-6200-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      18,000.00 18,000.00 6,964.40 18,913.00

100-6200-542100 CAPITAL OUTLAY - PARKS 0.00 50,940.00 516,806.50 0.00

 DEPARTMENT: PLANNING & ZONING           47,000.00

100-7400-511000 SALARIES                                144,127.00 169,786.00 138,852.77 204,000.00

100-7400-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         36,168.00 58,045.00 39,173.91 39,000.00

100-7400-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 11,026.00 12,989.00 10,454.64 17,900.00

100-7400-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                2,800.00 1,900.00 3,800.80 3,200.00

100-7400-512700           WORKERS COMP                            2,800.00 1,900.00 2,576.79 0.00

100-7400-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      40,000.00 45,834.00 34,208.24 43,000.00

100-7400-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                1,500.00 5,000.00 11,921.95 11,000.00

100-7400-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      16,500.00 20,500.00 12,008.50 18,000.00

100-7400-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      9,000.00 8,400.00 7,508.45 9,000.00

100-7400-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   1,000.00 2,000.00 149.46 1,000.00

100-7400-522320 RENTAL EQUIPMENT 1,400.00 1,500.00 3,264.26 4,400.00

100-7400-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          4,700.00 5,440.00 3,486.16 5,000.00

100-7400-523300 ADVERTISING                             1,250.00 1,250.00 1,358.86 1,400.00

100-7400-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    100.00 100.00 288.40 500.00

100-7400-523500 TRAVEL                                  3,000.00 4,000.00 685.80 3,000.00

100-7400-523600 DUES & FEES                             2,250.00 2,250.00 2,497.87 2,500.00

100-7400-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    3,500.00 5,500.00 2,233.85 4,000.00

100-7400-523800 LICENSES 400.00 150.00 130.00 400.00

100-7400-523910 UNIFORMS 1,000.00 1,000.00 395.00 1,000.00

100-7400-531100 SUPPLIES                                5,000.00 5,000.00 5,659.16 10,500.00

Page 4 of 23



100-7400-321270 ENERGY-GASOLINE / DIESEL 1,000.00 2,000.00 1,072.14 1,500.00

100-7400-541400 CAPITAL - PROPERTY (VEHICLE) 0.00 30,000.00 0.00 0.00

 DEPARTMENT: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT               288,521.00

100-7540-572000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (Chamber of Commerce)          12,000.00 12,000.00 11,000.00 12,000.00

100-7550-531000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (DDA)             17,500.00 42,500.00 25,000.00 47,000.00

GENERAL FUND Expenditure Totals:  1,882,498.00 2,176,384.00 2,405,458.83 2,222,793.00

GENERAL FUND Revenue Totals:  2,222,793.00

GENERAL FUND Expenditure Totals:  2,222,793.00

REVENUE                                                                  HOTEL/MOTEL FUND - 275

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

275-0000-314100 HOTEL/MOTEL TAX                         4,000.00 4,000.00 4,624.91 5,502.00

HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Revenue Totals 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,624.91 5,502.00

EXPENDITURES                                                                  HOTEL/MOTEL FUND - 275

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

275-7540-572000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (Chamber of Commerce) 4,000.00 4,000.00 5,399.11 5,502.00

HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 4,000.00 4,000.00 5,399.11 5,502.00

HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Revenue Totals 5,502.00

HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 5,502.00

Page 5 of 23



REVENUE

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

285-7550-000000 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  (DDA)        17,500.00 42,500.00 25,050.00 47,000.00

285-7500-740000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 4,400.00

DDA FUND 275 Revenue Totals 42,500.00 42,500.00 25,050.00 51,400.00

EXPENDITURES

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

285-7500-521200           PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      2,000.00 2,000.00 3,424.81 2,000.00

285-7500-521201           PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00

285-7500-521203           PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      2,400.00 2,400.00 0.00 22,000.00

285-7500-523300           ADVERTISING                             200.00 200.00 0.00 0.00

285-7500-523700           EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00

285-7500-531000           FIREWORKS PURCHASE                      10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00

285-7500-531100           SUPPLIES                                500.00 500.00 0.00 0.00

285-7500-540000           GRANT DISBURSEMENTS                     25,000.00 25,000.00 25,000.00 25,000.00

285-7550-531000 OTHER EXPENDITURES FROM RESERVES 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

DDA FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 42,500.00 42,500.00 28,424.81 51,400.00

DDA FUND 275 Revenue Totals 51,400.00

DDA FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 51,400.00

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND (DDA) - 285

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND (DDA) - 285

Page 6 of 23



REVENUE

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

320-0000-313200 SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX 1,062,750.00 1,417,000.00 1,477,799.14 0.00

320-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         2,000.00 8,000.00 330.19 300.00

320-0000-361000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 0.00 387,912.00 0.00 555,700.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Revenue Totals 1,064,750.00 1,812,912.00 1,478,129.33 556,000.00

EXPENDITURES

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

320-1000-541300           CAPITAL OUTLAY - CITY HALL ACQUISITION  680,000.00 468,912.00 692,341.50 0.00

320-4200-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - ROADS AND SIDEWALKS    375,750.00 384,000.00 74,732.82 494,000.00

320-4200-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-R 0.00 45,000.00 0.00 0.00

320-4300-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - SEWER PROJECTS         0.00 27,500.00 0.00 0.00

320-4300-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-S 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

320-4400-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - WATER PROJECTS         0.00 87,500.00 0.00 0.00

320-4400-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-W 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

320-6000-541000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - FARMERS MARKET         9,000.00 800,000.00 7,534.49 62,000.00

320-6200-541200           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PARKS AND RECREATION   0.00 0.00 63,396.90 0.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Expenditure Totals 1,064,750.00 1,812,912.00 838,005.71 556,000.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Revenue Totals 556,000.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Expenditure Totals 556,000.00

SPLOST VI FUND - 320                           

SPLOST VI FUND - 320                           

Page 7 of 23



REVENUE

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

505-0000-341400        MISC REV/COPIES/PRINTING                3,000.00 3,000.00 234,774.77 3,000.00

505-0000-344210        WATER CHARGES                           680,000.00 680,000.00 644,489.21 710,000.00

505-0000-344255        SEWERAGE CHARGES                        794,000.00 794,000.00 752,534.34 810,000.00

505-0000-349000        ADMINISTRATIVE FEE                      6,000.00 6,000.00 6,285.00 6,000.00

505-0000-349001        PENALTIES WATER & SEWER                 26,000.00 26,000.00 17,998.16 17,000.00

505-0000-349002        RECONNECT FEE                           6,000.00 6,000.00 8,950.00 6,000.00

505-0000-349300        BAD CHECK FEE                           600.00 600.00 980.00 700.00

505-0000-351400        FINES                                   500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00

505-0000-361000        INTEREST INCOME                         16,118.00 16,118.00 2,949.55 3,400.00

505-0000-381001        RENTAL INCOME HOUSE                     9,000.00 9,000.00 7,575.00 9,000.00

505-0000-383000 REIMBURSEMENT FOR DAMAGED PROPERTY 0.00 0.00 7,585.50 0.00

505-0000-611000 OTHER FINANCING USES (RESERVES) 138,092.00 127,776.00 0.00 321,225.00

ENTERPRISE FUND Revenue Totals: 1,679,310.00 1,668,994.00 1,684,121.53 1,886,825.00

EXPENDITURES

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

DEPARTMENT: SEWER                       

505-4300-511000 SALARIES                                148,701.00 158,869.00 129,271.21 173,701.00

505-4300-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         42,528.00 44,725.00 37,070.78 62,000.00

505-4300-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 11,376.00 12,153.00 9,760.05 13,889.00

505-4300-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                8,500.00 8,250.00 11,702.71 11,000.00

505-4300-512700 WORKERS COMP                            6,500.00 4,000.00 7,539.84 9,667.00

505-4300-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      3,000.00 3,000.00 3,852.57 3,496.00

505-4300-521201 PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 12,000.00 12,000.00 13,043.33 12,000.00

505-4300-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                40,000.00 60,000.00 38,612.43 51,294.00

505-4300-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      15,000.00 20,000.00 8,521.48 15,078.00

505-4300-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      14,000.00 14,000.00 10,103.50 14,080.00

505-4300-521315 TECHNICAL SERVICES: ENVIR MGMT          40,000.00 40,000.00 60,780.20 44,354.00

505-4300-522110 GARBAGE SERVICES                        7,500.00 4,750.00 7,920.41 7,500.00

505-4300-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   55,000.00 75,000.00 47,720.15 55,000.00

505-4300-523100 INSURANCE OTHER THAN EMPL               12,500.00 12,500.00 15,771.00 12,500.00

505-4300-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          6,000.00 8,000.00 7,203.73 6,063.00

505-4300-523215 POSTAGE / MAIL BILLS                    2,200.00 5,500.00 2,237.60 2,200.00

505-4300-523300 ADVERTISING                             350.00 350.00 715.09 350.00

505-4300-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    1,200.00 1,200.00 578.90 1,200.00

505-4300-523500 TRAVEL                                  1,000.00 1,000.00 100.00 1,000.00

505-4300-523600 DUES & FEES                             4,000.00 4,700.00 4,385.33 4,000.00

505-4300-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    2,000.00 3,000.00 687.00 2,000.00

505-4300-523800 LICENSES                                100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00

505-4300-523910 UNIFORMS                       1,500.00 1,500.00 721.98 1,500.00

505-4300-531100 SUPPLIES                                30,000.00 39,000.00 14,611.97 30,553.00

505-4300-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      116,000.00 116,000.00 100,364.60 124,693.00

505-4300-531240 ENERGY BOTTLED GAS                      1,000.00 1,000.00 1,271.88 1,300.00

505-4300-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  4,500.00 4,500.00 4,076.51 4,764.00

505-4300-531300 FOOD                                    1,000.00 1,000.00 100.00 1,000.00

505-4300-561000 DEPRECIATION                            428,000.00 330,000.00 269,093.30 428,000.00

ENTERPRISE FUND - 505                            

ENTERPRISE FUND - 505                           

Page 8 of 23



505-4300-572000 PAYMENTS TO OTHER - DAWSON 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,206.00

505-4300-582104 INTEREST BOND 2014                      50,000.00 82,000.00 41,666.70 50,000.00

 DEPARTMENT: WATER                       1,065,455.00

505-4400-511000 SALARIES                                148,701.00 158,869.00 129,271.21 173,701.00

505-4400-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         42,528.00 44,725.00 37,070.72 62,000.00

505-4400-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 11,376.00 12,153.00 9,760.07 13,889.00

505-4400-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                8,500.00 8,250.00 11,702.71 11,000.00

505-4400-512700 WORKERS COMP                            6,200.00 6,000.00 7,539.84 9,667.00

505-4400-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      4,000.00 10,000.00 9,367.58 5,596.00

505-4400-521201 PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 12,000.00 12,000.00 13,043.33 12,000.00

505-4400-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                7,000.00 13,000.00 27,075.58 11,427.00

505-4400-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      5,000.00 5,000.00 7,182.42 5,000.00

505-4400-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      12,000.00 12,000.00 9,053.50 13,603.00

505-4400-522110           GARBAGE SERVICES                        1,000.00 600.00 1,405.56 1,000.00

505-4400-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   25,000.00 40,000.00 42,229.31 25,000.00

505-4400-522320 RENTAL EQUIPMENT              1,200.00 1,000.00 1,104.12 1,476.00

505-4400-523100 INSURANCE OTHER THAN EMPLOYEE (GIRMA) 13,000.00 12,500.00 15,771.00 13,000.00

505-4400-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          8,000.00 8,400.00 6,768.35 8,081.00

505-4400-523215 POSTAGE / MAIL BILLS                    2,200.00 5,000.00 2,237.61 2,200.00

505-4400-523300 ADVERTISING                             650.00 650.00 842.65 650.00

505-4400-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    1,100.00 1,100.00 578.90 1,100.00

505-4400-523500 TRAVEL                                  1,000.00 1,000.00 100.00 1,000.00

505-4400-523600 DUES & FEES                             12,000.00 12,000.00 8,785.76 12,000.00

505-4400-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    4,000.00 4,000.00 687.00 4,000.00

505-4400-523800 LICENSES                                500.00 200.00 0.00 500.00

505-4400-523910 UNIFORMS                     1,500.00 1,500.00 721.97 1,500.00

505-4400-531100 SUPPLIES                                45,000.00 45,000.00 50,815.06 45,623.00

505-4400-531115 SUPPLIES: CHEMICALS             32,500.00 32,500.00 26,868.86 36,247.00

505-4400-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      18,000.00 18,000.00 18,404.22 18,708.00

505-4400-531240 ENERGY BOTTLED GAS                      950.00 950.00 1,271.88 950.00

505-4400-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  4,500.00 4,500.00 3,456.35 4,764.00

505-4400-531300 FOOD                                    1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00

505-4400-531510 WATER PURCHASED FROM EWSA               0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

505-4400-561000 DEPRECIATION                            146,000.00 100,000.00 75,086.70 146,000.00

505-440-572000 PAYMENTS TO OTHER - DAWSON 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,205.00

505-4400-582104 INTEREST BOND 2014                      37,450.00 29,000.00 32,822.33 37,450.00

GRAND TOTAL of EXPENDITURES: 1,679,310.00 1,668,994.00 1,400,508.84 1,886,825.00

ENTERPRISE FUND Revenue Totals: 1,886,825.00

GRAND TOTAL of EXPENDITURES: 1,886,825.00

SEWER 1,175,488.00

WATER 711,337.00

Page 9 of 23



REVENUE                                                         ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND - 530

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

530-0000-344257 SEWER TAPS                              225,000.00 475,000.00 240,000.00 225,000.00

530-0000-344212 WATER TAPS                              275,000.00 525,000.00 256,500.00 260,000.00

530-0000-610000 TRANSFER IN (RESERVES) 500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND 530 Revenue Totals 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 496,500.00 485,000.00

EXPENDITURES                                                         ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND - 530

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

530-4300-541400 CAPITAL OUTLAY - SEWER                  800,000.00 900,000.00 336,762.41 150,000.00

530-4400-541400 CAPITAL OUTLAY - WATER                  200,000.00 100,000.00 454,605.50 50,000.00

TRANSFER TO FUND 505 0.00 0.00 0.00 285,000.00

ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND 530 Expenditure Totals 1,000,000.00 900,000.00 791,367.91 485,000.00

ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND 530 Revenue Totals 485,000.00

ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND 530 Expenditure Totals 485,000.00

Page 10 of 23



REVENUE                                                                       GARBAGE FUND - 540

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

540-0000-344110 REFUSE COLLECTION CHARGES               203,500.00 171,000.00 189,898.05 203,500.00

540-0000-611000 TRANSFER IN (RESERVES) 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,700.00

GARBAGE FUND 540 Revenue Totals 203,500.00 171,000.00 189,898.05 208,200.00

EXPENDITURES                                                                       GARBAGE FUND - 540

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

540-4310-511000 SALARIES                                0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

540-4310-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

540-4310-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

540-4310-522110 GARBAGE SERVICES                        173,946.00 147,600.00 172,493.90 175,000.00

540-4310-523300 ADVERTISING                             200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00

540-4310-531100 SUPPLIES                                29,354.00 23,050.00 24,096.00 33,000.00

540-4310-574000 BAD DEBT 0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00

540-4310-541000 CAPITAL OUTLAY - BUILDING 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

GARBAGE FUND 540 Expenditure Totals 203,500.00 171,000.00 196,589.90 208,200.00

GARBAGE FUND 540 Revenue Totals 208,200.00

GARBAGE FUND 540 Expenditure Totals 208,200.00

Page 11 of 23



REVENUE                                                                      CEMETERY FUND - 790

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

790-0000-321210 REAL ESTATE FEES                        150.00 180.00 200.00 200.00

790-0000-349100 CEMETERY LOT SALES                      16,450.00 25,000.00 18,750.00 16,450.00

790-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         1,400.00 500.00 505.07 700.00

790-0000-611000 TRANSFER IN (RESERVES) 0.00 106,520.00 0.00 1,080.00

CEMETERY FUND 790 Revenue Totals 18,000.00 132,200.00 19,455.07 18,430.00

EXPENDITURES                                                                      CEMETERY FUND - 790

Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd 2019-20 Budget 2020-21 Actual 2021-22 Estimate

790-4950-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   11,000.00 10,000.00 4,730.00 11,430.00

790-4950-523600 DUES & FEES                             200.00 200.00 225.00 200.00

790-4950-531100 SUPPLIES                                6,800.00 2,000.00 0.00 6,800.00

790-4950-542500 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER             0.00 120,000.00 0.00 0.00

CEMETERY FUND 790 Expenditure Totals 18,000.00 132,200.00 4,955.00 18,430.00

CEMETERY FUND 790 Revenue Totals 18,430.00

CEMETERY FUND 790 Expenditure Totals 18,430.00

Page 12 of 23



            

 SUBJECT:    FIFTY-FOURTH ANNUAL MOUNTAIN MOONSHINE FESTIVAL 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: _____________06/07/2021_________________________ 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT # 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
TO REVIEW INITIAL PLANS FOR THE UPCOMING MOUNTAIN MOONSHINE       
FESTIVAL – TIFFANY BUCHAN TO PRESENT 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• OCTOBER 22 – 24, 2021
• PERMIT APPLICATION ATTACHED

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 

REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR 

AGENDA ITEM #  10  













































                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:   PLAN REVIEW ENGINEERING SERVICES CONTRACT    
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    _____ 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #__________ NA _____________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____  Annual Budget:_____ Capital Budget  Other________  
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fun:_____ General Fund 

 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
The Planning Department is requesting approval to use Peoples & Quigley, Inc. and Charles Abbott 
Associates, Inc. for on demand service provider for plan review at their stated rates.  The services will 
include but not be limited to commercial building plan, commercial civil development plan, retaining wall 
plan reviews. 

 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 

• Residential development preliminary and final plat review fee of $40.00 per lot for developments less 
than 50 lots and min fee $1,000.00 

• Residential development preliminary and final plat plan review fee of $25.00 per lot for developments 
greater than 50 lots. 

• Commercial civil development preliminary and as-built plan review fee $1,000.00 
• Commercial building plan review fee $1,000.00 
• Retaining wall > 6 ft plan review fee $750.00 
• Retaining wall > 6 ft building permit fee $250.00 

 
OPTIONS: 
 

 
RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Approve, Deny or Postpone 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning 

 
REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer 

 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 























































                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:   SPEED HUMP HOMEOWNER’S ASSOCIATION (HOA) POLICY      
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  JUNE 7, 2021      _____ 
 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #__________ NA _____________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____  Annual Budget:_____ Capital Budget  Other________  
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fun:_____ General Fund 

 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
Public Works and Planning Department is requesting approval for Speed Hump Program Manual. 

 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 

• Several Homeowner’s Association has contacted Public Works regarding specific policies regarding 
speed humps. 

• Public Works Department has limited staff to install speed humps. 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 
RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Approve, Deny or Postpone 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works and Planning and Zoning 

 
REQUESTED BY: Trampas Hansard and David Picklesimer 

 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 12 
 























                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST FOR CONCRETE PADS FOR EXERCISE 

STATIONS  
   

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/7/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ SPLOST VI    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF A GENERAL FUND RESERVES BUDGET AMENDMENT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $15,495.68 FOR THE INSTALLATION OF CONCRETE PADS FOR FITNESS 
STATIONS IN MAIN STREET PARK 

 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• FITNESS STATIONS HAVE BEEN PREVIOUSLY APPROVED AND ORDERED.  
CONCRETE PADS NEED TO BE POURED PRIOR TO INSTALLATION 
 

• THREE INFORMAL SEALED BIDS OBTAINED 
 GEORGIA EARTH AND PIPE LLC - $20,569.50 
 JERRY TOWNLEY CONCRETE, INC. - $15,495.68 
 CHATTAHOOCHEE GROUP, INC. - $16,910.20 

             

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
STAFF RECOMMENDS LOW BID FROM JERRY TOWNLEY CONCRETE, INC. FOR $15,495.68 
 
 

 
 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Trampas Hansard, Public Works Director______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL 

OPTION SALES TAX  
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF IGA FOR SPLOST  
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   14     
 

 

 



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF DAWSON 

 

 

 

SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

 

 This Intergovernmental Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made this _____ day of 

________, 2021 by and between Dawson County, Georgia (hereinafter the “County”), a political 

subdivision of the State of Georgia, and the City of Dawsonville, Georgia (the “City”), a municipal 

corporation.  The County and the City do hereby agree as follows: 

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

 WHEREAS, Article 3 of Chapter 8 of Title 48 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, 

as amended (the “Act”), authorizes the imposition of a one percent County Special Purpose Local 

Options Sales Tax (the “SPLOST”) for purposes of financing capital outlay projects for the use 

and benefit of the County and the qualified cities within the County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County and the City met together on November 17, 2020, to discuss 

possible projects for inclusion in the SPLOST referendum in substantial conformity with the 

requirements of Section 48-8-111(a) of the Act; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 48-8-111(a)(1) of the Act authorizes capital outlay projects that may 

be funded by the County or one or more “qualified municipalities” within the special district of 

the County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County and the City desire to execute an intergovernmental agreement 

memorializing their agreement on the SPLOST;  

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and undertakings hereinafter set 

forth, it is agreed by and between the County and the City as follows: 

 

 Section 1.  Representation of the Parties.  Each party hereto makes the following 

representations and warranties which are specifically relied upon by all other parties as a basis for 

entering this Agreement: 

 

(a) The City is a legally chartered municipal corporation as defined by law and judicial 

interpretation and is a “qualified municipality” as such term is defined in the Act.  During 

a public meeting of its governing board, conducted in compliance with the Open Meetings 

Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, et seq., the City approved the execution of this Agreement.   

 

(b) The County is a political subdivision of the State of Georgia created and existing 

under the Constitution and laws of the State.  During a public meeting conducted in 



 

 

  

2 

compliance with the Open Meetings Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, et seq., the County approved 

the execution of this Agreement. 

 

(c) It is the intention of the County and the City to comply in all respects with O.C.G.A. 

§ 48-8-110 et seq., and all provisions of this Agreement shall be construed in light of 

O.C.G.A. § 48-8-110, et seq. 

 

 Section 2.  Conditions Precedent.  The obligations of all parties under this Agreement are 

conditioned upon the following prior event:  the collection of SPLOST revenues by the State of 

Georgia Department of Revenue and its transfer of the same to the County. 

 

 Section 3.   Rate of Tax; Estimated Amount; Effective Date and Term of the Tax.  The 

SPLOST shall be imposed at the rate of one percent (1%).  The total estimated dollar amount is 

$60,000,000.00 (sixty million dollars) (after deduction of collection fees by the State of Georgia 

Department of Revenue).  The parties agree to split the amount actually collected on the following 

basis: first, to the County for purposes of funding a new emergency operations center and E911 

emergency communications system, at an estimated cost of $8.5 million; then 88% to the County 

and 12% to the City (subject to the funding distribution process set forth in Section 7(c)).  The tax 

shall be imposed for a period of six (6) years with collections beginning on July 1, 2021. 

 

 Section 4.  Effective Date and Term of This Agreement.  This Agreement shall 

commence upon the date of its execution and shall terminate upon the expenditure by the County 

and the City of the last dollar of money collected from the SPLOST even if such expenditure is 

made after the expiration of the SPLOST. 

 

 Section 5.  Projects, Priority and Order of Funding.   

 

(a) All capital outlay projects to be funded in whole or in part from SPLOST proceeds 

(the “Projects”) are listed in Exhibit A for the City and Exhibit B for the County, 

which exhibits are attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.   

 

(b) Within each party’s Project list, all Projects shall be deemed to have equal priority 

and the Projects may be funded in any order in the discretion of the responsible 

party.  All Projects described in this Agreement shall be funded from proceeds from 

the SPLOST, provided, however, that in the event that the actual proceeds are 

insufficient to fully fund the actual cost of all Projects, then each party shall have 

the sole discretion to reduce the scope of a Project in the event of a funding shortfall, 

and/or to eliminate the last-funded Project(s) if funding is insufficient.  Neither 

party shall have the obligation to fund any Project from non-SPLOST revenues.  

(Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to control or supersede any other 

agreement between the County and City that may describe a party’s commitment 

to fund a Project or a commitment as to the timeline of completion of such Project.) 

 

 Section 6.  SPLOST Funds; Separate Accounts; No Commingling. 

 

(a) A special fund or account shall be created by the County and designated as the 2021 



 

 

  

3 

Dawson County Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax Fund (“County SPLOST Fund”).  

The County shall select a local bank which shall act as a depository and custodian of the 

County SPLOST Fund upon such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the County. 

 

(b) The City shall create a special fund to be designated as the 2021 Dawsonville 

Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax Fund (“City SPLOST Fund”).  The City shall 

select a local bank which shall act as a depository and custodian of the SPLOST proceeds 

received by the City upon such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the City. 

 

(c) All SPLOST proceeds shall be maintained by the County and the City in the 

separate accounts or funds established pursuant to this Section.  Except as provided in 

Section 7, SPLOST proceeds shall not be commingled with other funds of the County or 

City and shall be used exclusively for the purposes detailed in this Agreement.  No funds 

other than SPLOST proceeds shall be placed in such accounts. 

 

 Section 7.  Procedure for Disbursement of SPLOST Proceeds. 

 

(a) Upon receipt by the County of SPLOST proceeds collected by the Georgia 

Department of Revenue, the County shall promptly deposit said proceeds in the County 

SPLOST Fund.  The monies in the County SPLOST Fund shall be held and applied to the 

cost of acquiring, constructing, and installing the County capital outlay projects listed in 

Exhibit B or, where applicable, disbursed to the City as provided in subsections (b) and (c). 

 

(b) All funds received by the County from the Georgia Department of Revenue from 

the imposition of the SPLOST shall be apportioned by the County according to the figures 

provided herein.  The figures set forth herein are binding and not subject to change or 

modification except upon written agreement by all parties.  The County, following the 

deposit of the SPLOST proceeds in the County SPLOST Fund, shall, within 10 business 

days, disburse any SPLOST proceeds due to the City according to subsection (c) and the 

City shall promptly deposit such funds in the City SPLOST Fund.  The monies in the City 

SPLOST Fund shall be held and applied to the cost of acquiring, constructing, and 

installing the Projects listed for the City in Exhibit A. 

 

(c) The parties will divide the actual proceeds collected by, first, collecting an amount 

sufficient to fund a new emergency operations center and E911 emergency 

communications system, at an estimated cost of $8.5 million.  After the first $8,500,000.00, 

the City shall receive the next $1.5 million in SPLOST proceeds which proceeds shall count 

towards its 12% SPLOST proceeds share.  At that point SPLOST proceeds shall be adjusted 

so that the City receives 8.7% of the SPLOST collections and the County receives 91.3% 

of the SPLOST collections until such time as their total SPLOST collections after the first 

$8,500,000.00 balances out to the City receiving 12% and the County receiving 88%.  From 

that point forward (i.e. after $50,000,000 in total collections), SPLOST proceeds shall be 

distributed 88% to the County and 12% to the City.  The parties understand that the 

distribution amounts listed in in Exhibit A and Exhibit B are based on the assumption that 

the SPLOST raises the estimated amount of $60,000,000.00 (sixty million dollars) after 

retention of fees by the Georgia Department of Revenue.   



 

 

  

4 

 

 Section 8.  Project Monitoring, Record-Keeping and Reporting, Audits.   

 

(a) All parties to this Agreement shall promptly move forward with the acquisition, 

construction, equipage, and installation of the Projects in an efficient and economical 

manner and at a reasonable cost in conformity with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules 

and regulations of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Projects. 

  

(b) The governing authority of the County and the governing authority of the City shall 

comply with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 48-8-121(a)(2), which requires that certain 

information be included in the annual audit of the County and the City. During the term of 

this Agreement, the distribution and use of all SPLOST proceeds deposited in the County 

SPLOST Fund and the City’s SPLOST Fund shall be audited annually by an independent 

certified public accounting firm.  The County and City agree to cooperate with the 

independent certified public accounting firm in any audit by providing all necessary 

information.  The City shall provide the County a copy of its annual audit, and the County 

shall provide the City a copy of the County’s annual audit. 

 

(c)  The governing authority of the County and the governing authority of the City shall 

comply with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 48-8-122, which requires the publication of 

annual reports concerning expenditures for the Projects. 

 

(d) The County and City agree to maintain thorough and accurate records concerning 

receipt of SPLOST proceeds and expenditures for each Project undertaken by the County 

or City as required to fulfill the terms of this Agreement. 

 

Section 9.  Completion of Projects. 

 

(a)  The County and the City acknowledge that the costs shown for each Project 

described in Exhibit A and Exhibit B are estimated amounts. 

 

(b)  If a County Project has been satisfactorily completed at a cost less than the 

estimated cost listed for that Project in Exhibit B, the County may apply the remaining 

unexpended funds to any other County Project in Exhibit B. 

 

(c)  If a City Project has been satisfactorily completed at a cost less than the estimated 

cost listed for that Project in Exhibit A, the City may apply the remaining unexpended 

funds to any other City Project in Exhibit A. 

 

(d)  The County and the City agree that each approved SPLOST Project associated with 

this Agreement shall be completed or substantially completed within five years after the 

termination of the SPLOST collection period. Any SPLOST proceeds held by a County or 

City at the end of the five-year period shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, be deemed 

excess funds and disposed of according to O.C.G.A. § 48-8-121(g)(2). 

 



 

 

  

5 

 Section 10. Administration.  The County shall administer the County SPLOST Fund 

to effectuate the terms of this Agreement.   

 

 Section 11.  Default.  The failure of any party to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement shall constitute an event of default.   

 

 Section 12. Liability for Noncompliance.  The County and the City shall comply with all 

applicable local, State, and Federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations.  In the event that 

the one party fails to comply with the requirements of the Act (O.C.G.A. § 48-8-110 et seq.), the 

other party shall not be held liable for such noncompliance.  No consent or waiver, express or 

implied, by any party to this Agreement, to any breach of any covenant, condition or duty of 

another party shall be construed as a consent to, or waiver of, any future breach of the same. 

 

 Section 13.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

 Section 14.  Governing Law.  This Agreement and all transactions contemplated hereby 

shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Georgia. 

 

 Section 15.  Severability.  Should any provision of this Agreement or application thereof 

to any person or circumstance be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement 

or the application of such provision to any person or circumstance, other than those to which it is 

held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each provision of this Agreement 

shall be valid and enforceable to the full extent permitted by law.   

 

 Section 16.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement embodies and sets forth all the 

provisions and understandings between the parties relative to the Projects.  There are no provisions, 

agreements, understandings, representations, or inducements, either oral or written, between the 

parties other than those hereinabove set forth; provided however, that the County and City agree 

and acknowledge that they are entering into this Agreement in conjunction with a Settlement and 

Release Agreement of even date herewith, and that the execution of this Agreement is material 

consideration for such Settlement and Release Agreement.  Any and all prior provisions, 

agreements, contracts or understandings, either oral or written, between the parties relative to the 

Projects are hereby rescinded and superseded by this Agreement. 

 

 Section 17.  Amendments.  This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except by 

agreement in writing executed by the governing authorities of the County and the City. 

 

 Section 18.  Notices.  All notices, demands or requests required or permitted to be given 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been properly given or 

served and shall be effective on being deposited or placed in the United States mail, postage 

prepaid and registered or certified with return receipt requested to the addresses appearing below, 

or when delivered by hand to the addresses indicated below: 

 



 

 

  

6 

 (a) Dawson County Board of Commissioners  

  25 Justice Way, Suite 2313 

  Dawsonville, GA 30534 

  Attention: County Manager 

 

 (b) City of Dawsonville 

  415 Highway 53 East, Suite 100  

  Dawsonville, GA 30534 

  Attention: City Manager 

 

 

[Signatures on Next Page] 

 

  



 

 

  

7 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto agree. 

 

 

DAWSON COUNTY, GEORGIA 

(COUNTY SEAL) 

 

By:__________________________ 

Billy Thurmond, Chairman 

 

Attest: 

 

_________________________    __________________ 

Kristen Cloud, Clerk   Date  

 

 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

 (CITY SEAL) 

 

By:__________________________ 

Mike Eason, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

_________________________     _________________ 

Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk    Date 

 

  



 

 

  

8 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

  



Category Project Description Cost Estimate 
Roads, Streets, Bridges & Sidewalks Deep patch repair, milling, repaving of: Maple Street $2,000,000.00

Deep patch repair, milling & repaving of: Pearl Chambers Dr, Court, Way
Richmond Drive
Stegal Place
Stonewall subdivision
Rain Hill subdivision
Burt's Crossing I subdivision
Creekstone subdivision Phase I

Existing Assset Maintenance
Sidewalk Improvements
Intersection Improvements

Land Acquistion Land Acquisition for various needs Water/Sewer Easements 485,000.00$          
Farmer's Market expansion
Parking Improvements
Intersection improvements
Parking needs
Fargrounds
Road Improvements

Water - Sewer Projects Construct tertiary waste water plant Expand sewage capacity $2,120,000.00
Upgrade wells, Water Lines, Lift Stations

Public Works Facilities & Equipment Public Works vehicles & equipment New and replacement 121,000.00$          
Utility Departme vehicles & equipment New and replacement

Parks & Recreation Main Street Park Phases III & IV Construct picnic shelters 605,000.00$          
Install fitness stations
Construct dog park
Construct disk golf course
Construct Amphitheater
Splash pad
Misc. trail/amenities
Construct maintenance facility
Construct bocce ball courts
Construct pickle ball facility

Downtown Revitalization Downtown Beautification Street scapes, planters, etc. 304,000.00$          
Additional Parking Academy Avenue parking
Public Restroom Downtown restroom

City Hall Facilities Building maintenance & improvements Building Improvements 545,000.00$          
Parking Parking improvements

TOTAL SPLOST VII $6,180,000.00

City of Dawsonville SPLOST VII Project List



 

 

  

9 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 



Department/Elected Official Project Description Cost Estimate % of Total SPLOST 

Level 2 Countywide Projects

Public Safety Projects

New Emergency Operations Center- E911-

Emergency Communications System New construction of EOC and E911 center, and Radio System 8,500,000.00$              

Total 8,500,000.00$           

% of Total SPLOST 

Other County Projects
Information Technology (IT) IT Infrastructure Various  IT infrastructure upgrades 1,500,000.00$              2.91%

Administrative Office Renovation Administrative Building Renovation of Existing Office Buildings 500,000.00$                  0.97%

Public Safety Vehicles and Equipment  Fire Engine Replacements Replace three Fire Engines and Equipment 2,250,000.00$              16.60%

 Ambulance Replacment Replacemnt of 5 Medunits and equipment 2,300,000.00$              

Fire Station Replacement Replace existing fire Stations 3,000,000.00$              

Training Burn Building Replacement Replace existing burn building 1,000,000.00$              

Sheriff Services Roof on Law Enforcment Center New roof on LEC 400,000.00$                  6.60%

Courthouse Security Upgrades New Courthosue security upgrades and replacement 1,500,000.00$              

Sheriff Vehicles and Equipment New vehicle and equipment replacment 1,500,000.00$              

Public Works Public Works Vehicles and Equipment New Vehicles and Equipment replacments 2,500,000.00$              36.70%

County Road and Culvert Projects Exisiting asset Road improvement projects 16,400,000.00$            

County Adminisrtation Vehicle and Equipment Replacement New/Replacement Vehicles 1,500,000.00$              4.08%

Fueling Center New Fueling Center 600,000.00$                  

Park and Recreation Veterans Park Improvements Playground Replacement 450,000.00$                  11.20%

Football field Artifical Turf 900,000.00$                  

Multipurpose Field Artificial Turf 1,200,000.00$              

Rock Creek Park Improvemnets Playground Replacement 450,000.00$                  

New Small Playground 325,000.00$                  

Special Needs Baseball/Softball Field 400,000.00$                  

Asphalt parking/trail replacement 850,000.00$                  

War Hill Park Improvements New playground 300,000.00$                  

Replacement Fishing Pier 200,000.00$                  

Paving 400,000.00$                  

Primitive Hiking Trails 295,000.00$                  

Etowah River Road Canoe Park Canoe Launch 100,000.00$                  

Public Health New Public Health Building New construction of Public Health building 2,500,000.00$              4.85%

Development Authority Industrial Park Expansion Industrial Park expansion and site improvements 2,000,000.00$              3.88%

Total Dawson County Projects Costs 45,320,000.00$         

Total City of Dawsonville Project Costs 6,180,000.00$           

Total SPLOST VII 60,000,000.00$         

Dawson County SPLOST VII Project List



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR DOWNTOWN PARKING  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF IGA FOR DOWNTOWN PARKING   
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   15     
 

 

 



1 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR SHARED PARKING AT COUNTY 

FACILITIES IN DAWSONVILLE 

 The City of Dawsonville (hereinafter “City”), and Dawson County (hereinafter “County”) 
(collectively “parties”) hereby enter into this intergovernmental agreement (the “Agreement”) as 
follows: 

WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 
of 1983, authorizes the parties to enter into an agreement for the joint use of facilities, but such 
contracts must deal with activities, services, or facilities that the parties are authorized by law to 
undertake or provide;  

 
WHEREAS, the parties are authorized to provide streets, roads, and parking facilities 

pursuant to Article IX, Section II, Paragraph III of the Constitution; and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties recognize the benefits that will result from increasing the number 

of available parking spaces available for public use in downtown Dawsonville; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual benefits to the parties hereto and all 

of the citizens they represent and other good and valuable consideration as set forth herein below, 
the parties enter into this Agreement upon the following terms, conditions, and stipulations: 

 
1. City Parking Use of Dawson County Parking Facilities 

A. The parties acknowledge that the County owns certain parking lots and parking spaces 
within the corporate limits of the City of Dawsonville, and acknowledge that during 
the term of this Agreement the County may (in its sole discretion) acquire or develop 
additional parking lots and parking spaces within the corporate limits of the City of 
Dawsonville.  All such lots and spaces, as they currently exist or as they may be 
developed or modified in the future, shall be deemed the “Parking Facilities” for 
purposes of this Agreement.  The Parking Facilities specifically exclude any parking 
spaces or lots that are fenced off or restricted by signage as reserved for a public 
safety/public health purpose, including without limitation, restricted-access spaces 
associated with the County courthouse/jail.  Nothing in this Agreement will prevent the 
County from restricting, relocating or modifying any of the Parking Facilities in its sole 
discretion. 

B. Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the County shall make the Parking 
Facilities available for City parking uses at all times other than: (1) normal County 
business hours; (2) during special County events, to the extent events may require space 
or parking at one or more Parking Facilities; and (3) as access may be limited by the 
County for public safety purposes or for repairs or alterations to the Parking Facilities.    

C. Normal County business hours are defined as Monday through Friday (excluding 
County holidays) during the published hours of the County facility served by the 
applicable Parking Facility, and if none, then 8:30am until 5pm.  Allowable City 
parking uses of the Parking Facilities include the parking of City vehicles and the 



2 
 

opening of the Parking Facilities to the public for general public parking.   

2. Restrictions on Use 

Use of the Parking Facilities by City and the public shall be subject to any rules and 
regulations promulgated by the County for public safety and public order, provided that such rules 
shall not unreasonably interfere with the intended purpose of this Agreement, which is to expand 
the public’s ability to access free parking in downtown Dawsonville.   

3. Special Events and Other Special Uses 

At least once a year, the parties shall coordinate to develop a calendar of dates on which 
the Parking Facilities may be specially impacted, such as special events where intensive use of the 
Parking Facilities is anticipated, and dates on which County repair/maintenance will take place.  If 
not reflected on the calendar, and except in emergency situations, each party shall provide at least 
one week’s advance (informal) notice to the other party of any event that would significantly 
impact the use of the Parking Facilities.  The City shall promptly clean up the applicable Parking 
Facilities after a major City event, to the condition existing prior to the event.   

4. Term of Agreement 

The term of this Agreement shall be for the length of the imposition of the SPLOST VII 
tax, which is anticipated to begin on July 1, 2021 and end on June 30, 2027.  With mutual written 
agreement of the parties, this Agreement may be extended for any number of five-year renewal 
terms.   

5. Miscellaneous 

A. If any disputes or issues arise in connection with this Agreement, either party shall have 
the right to demand a meeting of the City Manager and County Manager, who shall 
work in good faith to resolve the dispute.  Any action or suit related to this Agreement 
shall be brought in the Superior Court of Dawson County, Georgia. 

B. In general, performance of this Agreement may be informally coordinated between the 
designees of each party.  Formal notice, to the extent required, shall be sent via hand 
delivery, certified mail, or national overnight commercial carrier to the then-current 
office address of the City Manager or County Manager, as applicable.   

C. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior 
communications or agreements, whether oral, written, or understood, regarding the 
subject of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified or amended only in 
writing properly executed by both parties. 

D. The brief capitalized and underlined headings or titles preceding each section are for 
purposes of identification, convenience and ease of reference only and in no way 
define, limit or describe the scope or intent thereof, or of this Agreement nor in any 
way affect this Agreement, and such headings or titles shall be disregarded in the 
construction of this Agreement.  Should any article(s) or section(s), or any part thereof, 
later be deemed unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the offending 



3 
 

portion of the Agreement should be severed, and the remainder of this Agreement shall 
remain in full force and effect to the extent possible.   

E. No failure of any party hereto to exercise any right or power granted under this 
Agreement, or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with this Agreement, 
and no custom or practice of any party at variance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, shall constitute a general waiver of any future breach or default or affect 
either party's right to demand exact and strict compliance by any other party hereto 
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

F. The parties have cooperated in the preparation of this Agreement.  Hence, should any 
provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed and stipulated 
by and between the parties that the court interpreting or construing the same shall not 
apply a presumption that the terms, conditions and provisions hereof shall be more 
strictly construed against one party by reason of the rule of construction that an 
instrument is to be construed more strictly against the party who prepared the same.  

G. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts each of which is deemed an 
original of equal dignity with the others and which is deemed one and the same 
instrument as the others.   

H. This Agreement shall be exclusively for the benefit of the parties hereto and shall not 
provide any third parties with any remedy, claim, liability, reimbursement, cause of 
action or other right. 

I. Neither party shall be liable for its respective non-negligent or non-willful failure to 
perform or shall be deemed in default with respect to the failure to perform (or cure a 
failure to perform) any of its respective duties or obligations under this Agreement or 
for any delay in such performance due to:  (a) any cause beyond its respective 
reasonable control; (b) any act of God; (c) any change in applicable governmental rules 
or regulations rendering the performance of any portion of this Agreement legally 
impossible; (d) earthquake, fire, explosion or flood; (e) strike or labor dispute; (f) delay 
or failure to act by any governmental or military authority other than the party claiming 
the benefit of this provision; or (g) any war, hostility, embargo, sabotage, civil 
disturbance, riot, pandemic, insurrection or invasion.  In such event, the time for 
performance shall be extended by an amount of time equal to the period of delay caused 
by such acts, and all other obligations shall remain intact. 

J. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as creating any individual or 
personal liability on the part of any of the parties’ elected or appointed officials, 
officers, boards, commissions, employers, representatives, consultants, servants, 
agents, attorneys or volunteers. No such individual shall be personally liable under this 
Agreement in the event of any default or breach by the parties or for any amount which 
may become due by the parties under the terms of this Agreement. The parties agree 
that their sole and exclusive remedy, claim, demand, or suit shall be directed and/or 
asserted only against parties and only in their official capacity and not against any 
elected or appointed official, officers, boards, commissions, employees, 
representatives, consultants, servants, agents, attorneys, or volunteers.  



4 
 

 This ___ day of ________________, 2021. 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  

 

By:__________________________  Attest:_____________________________ 
      Mike Eason, Mayor    City Clerk 
   

    

 

 

     

 
DAWSON COUNTY  
 
By:_______________________________      Attest:_______________________________ 
      Billy Thurmond, Chairman   County Clerk  
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF IGA FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT  
  
   TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST IN THE AMOUNT OF $156,028.56 

TO FUND TWO DEPUTY POSITIONS FOR ONE YEAR PER THE IGA.   
 
   FUNDING SOURCE: 60% FROM GENERAL FUND RESERVES AND 40% FROM ENTERPRISE 

RESERVES (20% WATER/20% SEWER) 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   16     
 

 

 



1 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT 

 The City of Dawsonville (hereinafter “City”), the Sheriff of Dawson County (hereinafter 
“Sheriff”)  and the Board of Commissioners of Dawson County (hereinafter “County”) 
(collectively “Parties”) hereby enter into this intergovernmental agreement (the “Agreement”) in 
accord with O.C.G.A. §15-16-13 for the purpose of providing and maintaining law enforcement 
services within the City as follows: 

 WHEREAS, the City currently does not have a municipal police force; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has the power to and provides for public safety expenses within the 
City of Dawsonville by contract, including intergovernmental agreements; and 

 WHEREAS, the Sheriff exercises duties and powers within the incorporated area of the 
City and the unincorporated area of Dawson County; and 

 WHEREAS, Ga. Const. Art. IX, Sec. II, Para. III(a) and O.C.G.A. §15-16-13 permit the 
Sheriff to perform police functions, exercise power, and to render police services for the City 
pursuant to an agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, Ga. Const. Art. IX, Sec. III, Par. I, subparagraph (a), provides that any county 
or municipality of the State of Georgia may contract  for any period not exceeding 50 years with 
each other or with any other public agency, public corporation or public authority for the provision 
of services, or for the joint or separate use of facilities or equipment when such contracts deal with 
services, activities, or facilities which the contracting parties are authorized by law to undertake or 
provide; and  

 WHEREAS, by duly approving this Agreement and spreading same upon the minutes of 
each respective governing authority, the County and the City hereby declare that this Agreement 
serves the best interest of the citizens in each of their respective jurisdictions.  

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, covenants, and conditions set forth 
herein, the City, County, and the Sheriff agree as follows: 

 1. Law Enforcement Services.  The Sheriff shall equip and assign two deputy sheriffs 
(“Deputies”) to provide the following law enforcement services within the City (the “Contract 
Services”): 

  (a)  exercise the same duties, powers, and arrest authority exercised in the 
unincorporated area of Dawson County (O.C.G.A. §15-16-10(a)(9)); 

  (b)  patrol city streets, the City Farmer’s Market, City owned or maintained property 
including Main Street Park and City utility facilities to enforce speed limits, traffic control devices, 
parking statutes, ordinances, and regulations and criminal laws; 

  (c)  assist City Code Enforcement and Animal Control personnel by serving 
citations for ordinance violations and investigating ordinance violations after City personnel 
exercise good faith efforts to enforce city ordinances without assistance from the Sheriff’s office; 



2 
 

  (d)  attend meetings of the City Council, Planning Commission, Historic 
Preservation Commission, and Downtown Development Authority; 

  (e)  attend City sponsored special events such as Food Truck night, the Christmas 
special event, and similar events; 

  (f) provide extra patrol as needed to respond to heavy seasonal or special event 
traffic or if a resident is away from the residence for an extended period or to protect against reports 
of criminal activity; 

  (g) regularly patrol the City to deter crime and to promote driver and pedestrian 
safety; 

  (h) interact with residents to increase the likelihood that City residents know 
individual officers; 

  (i) investigate suspicious persons and circumstances; and  

  (j) perform humanitarian acts when available such as assisting stranded motorists, 
escorting if needed for safety, business and resident welfare checks, and similar community 
oriented public safety activities. 

It is understood by the Parties that the above referenced services shall be provided primarily 
through the Sheriff having two Deputies assigned to have their primary responsibility be the 
incorporated areas of the City of Dawsonville, the shifts for which are not expected to overlap.  
The foregoing notwithstanding, (1) the City understands and agrees that upon reasonable need the 
two Deputies whose primary responsibility includes the incorporated area of the City of 
Dawsonville may provide law enforcement services in the unincorporated area of Dawson County; 
and (2) the Sheriff understands and agrees that depending on the law enforcement needs at any 
particular time, it may be necessary to provide additional Deputies for the provision of law 
enforcement services in the incorporated area of the City of Dawsonville. 

 2. Traffic Citations.  All tickets or citations issued for violations of state traffic laws 
shall be returned to Dawson County Probate Court or Superior Court.  The County shall receive 
all revenue from fines levied and collected for traffic violations and not distributed to the State of 
Georgia pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations. 

 3.   City Ordinance Citations.  The City Municipal Court shall retain jurisdiction of City 
code violations. 

 4. Compensation for Law Enforcement Services.  In accordance with O.C.G.A. §15-
16-13, the City shall reimburse the County for the costs incurred by the Sheriff in providing the 
Contract Services (the “Reimbursement Costs”) which includes, but is not limited to, 
compensation of the two deputy sheriffs, cost of retirement benefits and health insurance for those 
Deputies, workers’ compensation and other fringe benefits, training costs, materials, supplies, and 
utilities.   



3 
 

(a) The initial amount due from the City is $6,501.19 per Deputy per month 
$13,002.38 total per month, and the amount due may fluctuate based upon the costs identified 
herein to calculate the amount due from the City. The Sheriff shall notify the City and the County 
of changes at least thirty (30) days before the change in the amount due shall be effective. The 
Reimbursement Cost shall be paid on the first of the month in advance for services that will be 
provided by the Sheriff during the month in which payment is received. By way of example, the 
payment due on July 1, 2021 shall be payment for services provided for during the month of July 
2021. 

(b) The City’s obligation to reimburse the County for costs incurred by the Sheriff 
shall only include the cost of equipment “to the extent that such equipment, materials, supplies, 
and utilities are not furnished by the contracting municipal corporation.” O.C.G.A. § 15-16-13(c).   

(i) Pursuant to a separate Settlement and Release Agreement dated May 20, 
2021 and related to SPLOST VII (the “SPLOST Agreement”), the City and 
County have agreed that the County will provide the Sheriff with two 
additional patrol vehicles.  The Parties agree and acknowledge that the 
purchase of these vehicles will not be included in the Sheriff’s budget for 
purposes of assessing the amount due from the City under this Section 4, 
and thus the City will not be charged for these vehicles. 

(ii) Pursuant to the SPLOST Agreement, the City and County have agreed 
that the County will provide, on the City’s behalf, for a one-time purchase 
of the uniforms, vests, body cameras, firearms, and similar capital 
equipment associated with initially equipping the two new Deputy 
positions.  The Parties acknowledge that the estimated cost of such personal 
equipment is $7,738.74 per Deputy.  Because the cost of such equipment 
would be paid from the Sheriff’s budget and would otherwise be chargeable 
to the City, the City shall receive a one-time credit for such costs.  The 
amount due from the City pursuant to subsection (a) above shall be initially 
offset by a one-time credit of $7,738.74 per Deputy, chargeable toward the 
cost of the first month and part of the second month of service provided by 
the Deputies under this Agreement.   

(iii) The City agrees and acknowledges that the County’s provision of the 
two patrol vehicles without additional charge to the City, as referenced in 
paragraph (i), and the County’s provision of a one-time $15,477.48 (total) 
equipment credit, as referenced in paragraph (ii), will fully satisfy the 
County’s obligations under Section II.B of the SPLOST Agreement.   

 5. Policies and Procedures.  Deputies performing law enforcement services pursuant 
to this Agreement shall be subject to policies and procedures of the Sheriff only and not the policies 
and procedures of the City.  The Sheriff will supervise Deputies performing duties pursuant to this 
Agreement and shall control all equipment and vehicles utilized in the performance of law 



4 
 

enforcement services pursuant to the terms hereof and will provide maintenance and insurance for 
equipment and vehicles.   

 6. Term.  This Intergovernmental Agreement is entered pursuant to Art. IX, Sec. III, 
Para. I of the Georgia Constitution and shall commence on the 1st day of July, 2021 and expire on 
the 30th day of June, 2031, unless prior written notice of intent to terminate is given by the Sheriff, 
the County, or the City  at least 90 days before the date of termination. 

 7. Notices.   Any notice provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be delivered as 
follows: 

  Dawson County Sheriff’s Office 
  19 Tucker Avenue 
  Dawsonville, GA 30534 
 
  City of Dawsonville 
  415 Highway 53 East 
  Suite 100 
  Dawsonville, GA 30534 
 
  Dawson County Board of Commissioners 
  25 Justice Way  
  Suite 213 
  Dawsonville, GA 30534 
 
 8. Severability.  If any part of this agreement is declared unenforceable or invalid, 
the remainder shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If any provision of this Agreement is 
held to be invalid, inoperative or unenforceable for any reason, it shall be modified rather than 
voided, if possible, in order to achieve the intent of the Parties hereto to the maximum extent 
possible. 

9.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including any exhibits hereto, constitutes the 
complete agreement between the Parties and, supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral 
or in writing, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.  

 10. This Agreement shall be exclusively for the benefit of the Parties and shall not 
provide any third parties with any remedy, claim liability, reimbursement, cause of action, or other 
right.  

 11. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to be a waiver of the 
Parties’ sovereign immunities or of any individual’s qualified, good faith, or official immunities.  

 12. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as creating any individual 
or personal liability on the part of any of the Parties or their elected or appointed officials, officers, 
boards, commissions, employers, representatives, consultants, servants, agents, attorneys or 
volunteers. No such individual shall be personally liable under this Agreement in the event of any 



5 
 

default or breach by the Parties or for any amount which may become due by the Parties under the 
terms of this Agreement. The Parties agree that their sole and exclusive remedy, claim, demand, 
or suit shall be directed and/or asserted only against Parties and only in their official capacity and 
not against any elected or appointed official, officers, boards, commissions, employees, 
representatives, consultants, servants, agents, attorneys, or volunteers.  

 13. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been made, construed, and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia and said laws shall govern the validity of this 
Agreement and the construction of its terms and interpretation of the rights and duties of the 
Parties. Any litigation arising out of or any way involving this Agreement shall be heard and 
decided in the Superior Court of Dawson County.  

 14. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by any Party to this Agreement to any 
breach of any covenant, condition or duty of another Party shall be construed as a consent to or 
waiver of any future breach of the same. No failure of a Party to exercise any power hereunder and 
no custom or practice of the Parties at variance with the terms hereof, shall be a waiver of a Party’s 
right to demand exact compliance herewith.  

 15. No Party hereto may assign any function or obligation undertaken by such Party 
without the written approval of the Parties.  

 16. Except as expressly limited by the terms of this Agreement, all rights hereunder are 
in addition to and do not limit those provided at law or in equity. 

 17. The Parties intend that the relation between them is that of principal-independent 
contractor. No agent, employee, or servant of Sheriff shall be or shall be deemed to be the 
employee, agent, servant of City. City is interested only in the results obtained under this 
Agreement. The manner and means of overseeing the work are under the sole control of Sheriff. 
None of the benefits provided by City to its employees are available from City to Sheriff or its 
employees, agents, or servants.  

 18. Each provision of this Agreement shall be construed as through all the Parties 
participated equally in its drafting. Any rule of construction that a document is to be construed 
against the drafting Party shall not apply. 

 19. The Parties shall, at the request of the other, make, sign, and deliver all documents 
and do or cause to be done all such things that any Party may reasonably require under this 
Agreement.  

 20. The signatories below have been duly authorized by their respective governing 
authorities to execute this Agreement on their behalf. Each Party represents and warrants to the 
other that (a) it has full capacity and authority to enter into this; (b) the person executing this on 
its behalf has full authority to do so; and (c) this constitutes an obligation which is valid and legally 
binding against it and which is enforceable against it in accordance with its term. 

 21. A scanned or facsimile signature shall be treated the same as an original signature 
and any Party may rely upon a scanned or facsimile signature of the Party upon this Agreement. 



6 
 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all counterparts shall be 
considered together as one. The Parties understand and agree to the terms of this and their 
authorized officers have signed below.     

 

 This ___ day of ________________, 2021. 

        

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  

 

By:_______________________   Attest:__________________________ 
Mike Eason, Mayor       Beverly Banister, City Clerk 
   

 

 

 

SHERIFF OF DAWSON COUNTY  

 

By:__________________________ 
Jeff Johnson, Sheriff  
 
 
 
 
 
 
DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
By:_______________________________      Attest:_______________________________ 
      Billy Thurmond, Chairman               Kristen Cloud, County Clerk 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   RECOGNIZE FORMER COUNCILMEMBER STEPHEN TOLSON 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

 RECOGNIZE FORMER COUNCILMEMBER STEPHEN TOLSON 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   17     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   RECOGNIZE RETIRING CITY ATTORNEY DANA MILES 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  06/07/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

 RECOGNIZE RETIRING CITY ATTORNEY DANA MILES 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   18     
 

 

 


	1. 06.07.2021 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2 05.17.2021 MINUTES.draft
	7b. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items CHAMBER OF COMMERCE
	7b. 2 City-Chamber Funding Agreement 2021-2022
	7c. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items ADDTL RETIREMENT
	7c. 2 Dawsonville 457(b) AA 5 25 21 (002)
	7c. 3 Dawsonville Roth Addendum 5 24 21 (002)
	7c. 4 Dawsonville DC AA 6 1 21 (002)
	7d. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items GMRC
	7d. 2 2021-22 Reappointment Request Memo
	8. 1 Executive Summary ANXC2100192
	8. 2 ANX-ZA C2100192
	9. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items PROPOSED BUDGET
	9. 2 proposed budget
	10. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items Form MTN MOONSHINE FESTIVAL
	10. 2 MOONSHINE
	54TH - MOUNTAIN MOONSHINE FESTIVAL - compressed (003).pdf
	Moonshine Festival 2021.pdf
	Moonshine Festival Form.pdf

	10. 2 MOONSHINE_Redacted
	11. 1 06.07.2021_EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA _ Planning Zoning Department Plan Review Service_
	11. 2 PLAN REVIEW
	12. 1 06.07.2021_EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA_speed hump
	12. 2 SPEED HUMP MANUAL
	13. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONCRETE PADS FITNESS STATIONS_BUDGET AMEND
	14. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items SPLOST
	14.2 2021-04-01 SPLOST VII IGA_(Dawson County) 5.20.2021
	15. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items PARKING
	15. 2 2021-05-19 Parking IGA
	A. The parties acknowledge that the County owns certain parking lots and parking spaces within the corporate limits of the City of Dawsonville, and acknowledge that during the term of this Agreement the County may (in its sole discretion) acquire or d...
	B. Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the County shall make the Parking Facilities available for City parking uses at all times other than: (1) normal County business hours; (2) during special County events, to the extent events may r...
	C. Normal County business hours are defined as Monday through Friday (excluding County holidays) during the published hours of the County facility served by the applicable Parking Facility, and if none, then 8:30am until 5pm.  Allowable City parking u...
	Use of the Parking Facilities by City and the public shall be subject to any rules and regulations promulgated by the County for public safety and public order, provided that such rules shall not unreasonably interfere with the intended purpose of thi...
	At least once a year, the parties shall coordinate to develop a calendar of dates on which the Parking Facilities may be specially impacted, such as special events where intensive use of the Parking Facilities is anticipated, and dates on which County...
	The term of this Agreement shall be for the length of the imposition of the SPLOST VII tax, which is anticipated to begin on July 1, 2021 and end on June 30, 2027.  With mutual written agreement of the parties, this Agreement may be extended for any n...
	A. If any disputes or issues arise in connection with this Agreement, either party shall have the right to demand a meeting of the City Manager and County Manager, who shall work in good faith to resolve the dispute.  Any action or suit related to thi...

	16. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items IGA_LAW ENFORCEMENT
	17. Executive Summary For Agenda Items STEPHEN TOLSON
	18. Executive Summary For Agenda Items DANA MILES



